ORIGINAL PAPER



On quasi norm attaining operators between Banach spaces

Geunsu Choi¹ · Yun Sung Choi² · Mingu Jung³ · Miguel Martín⁴

Received: 4 October 2021 / Accepted: 26 May 2022 © The Author(s) 2022

Abstract

We provide a characterization of the Radon–Nikodým property for a Banach space Y in terms of the denseness of bounded linear operators into Y which attain their norm in a weak sense, which complement the one given by Bourgain and Huff in the 1970s for domain spaces. To this end, we introduce the following notion: an operator $T: X \longrightarrow Y$ between the Banach spaces X and Y is quasi norm attaining if there is a sequence (x_n) of norm one elements in X such that (Tx_n) converges to some $u \in Y$ with ||u|| = ||T||. We prove that strong Radon-Nikodým operators can be approximated by quasi norm attaining operators, a result which does not hold for norm attaining operators. It shows that this new notion of quasi norm attainment allows us to characterize the Radon-Nikodým property in terms of denseness of quasi norm attaining operators for both domain and range spaces, which in the case of norm attaining operators, was only valid for domain spaces due to the celebrated counterexample by Gowers in 1990. A number of other related results are also included in the paper: we give some positive results on the denseness of norm attaining nonlinear maps, characterize both finite dimensionality and reflexivity in terms of quasi norm attaining operators, discuss conditions such that quasi norm attaining operators are actually norm attaining, study the relation with the norm attainment of the adjoint operator and, finally, present some stability results.

Keywords Banach space \cdot Radon–Nikodým property \cdot Norm-attaining operator \cdot Strong Radon–Nikodým operator \cdot Compact operator \cdot Remotality \cdot Reflexivity

✓ Miguel Martín mmartins@ugr.es

Geunsu Choi chlrmstn90@gmail.com

Yun Sung Choi mathchoi@postech.ac.kr

Published online: 10 June 2022

Mingu Jung jmingoo@kias.re.kr https://clemg.blog/

- Department of Mathematics Education, Dongguk University, Seoul 04620, Republic of Korea
- Department of Mathematics, POSTECH, Pohang 790-784, Republic of Korea
- School of Mathematics, Korea Institute for Advanced Study, Seoul 02455, Republic of Korea
- Departamento de Análisis Matemático, Facultad de Ciencias, Universidad de Granada, 18071 Granada, Spain



133 Page 2 of 32 G. Choi et al.

Mathematics Subject Classification Primary $46B04 \cdot 46B20 \cdot 46B22$; Secondary $47B07 \cdot 46G25 \cdot 41A65 \cdot 26A16$

Contents

1	Introduction
2	Some negative examples on the denseness of the set of quasi norm attaining operators
3	The relation with the Radon–Nikodým property: a new positive result
	3.1 An application: Lipschitz maps attaining the norm towards vectors
	3.2 An application: quasi norm attaining multilinear maps and homogeneous polynomials
4	On the set of quasi norm attaining operators
	Further results and examples
6	Stabilities on quasi norm attaining operators
7	Remarks and open problems
	7.1 Extensions of results on norm attaining operators
	7.2 Lindenstrauss properties
	7.3 Uniquely quasi norm attaining operators
	7.4 Quasi norm attaining endomorphisms
R	eferences

1 Introduction

Let X and Y be Banach spaces over the field \mathbb{K} (which will always be \mathbb{R} or \mathbb{C}). We write B_X and S_X to denote the unit ball and the unit sphere of X, respectively. By $\mathcal{L}(X,Y)$ we mean the Banach space of all bounded linear operators from X to Y endowed with the operator norm; we just write $X^* = \mathcal{L}(X,\mathbb{K})$ for the dual space of X. The space of compact (respectively, weakly compact) operators from X to Y will be denoted by $\mathcal{K}(X,Y)$ (respectively, $\mathcal{W}(X,Y)$). We denote by \mathbb{T} the unit sphere of the base field \mathbb{K} and use $Re(\cdot)$ to denote the real part, being just the identity when dealing with real scalars.

Recall that $T \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ attains its norm $(T \in NA(X, Y))$ in short if there is a point $x_0 \in S_X$ such that $||Tx_0|| = ||T||$; in this case, we say that T attains its norm at x_0 . Equivalently, $T \in NA(X, Y)$ if and only if $T(B_X) \cap ||T||S_Y \neq \emptyset$. The study of norm attaining operators goes back to the 1963's paper [43] by Lindenstrauss, who first discussed the possible extension to the setting of general operators of the famous Bishop-Phelps' theorem on the denseness of norm attaining functionals, that is, to study when the set NA(X, Y) is dense in $\mathcal{L}(X,Y)$. He showed that this is not always the case and provided several positive conditions. We refer the reader to the expository paper [4] for a detailed account on the main results on this topic. Let us just mention that classical contributions to this topic were given by, among other authors, Bourgain, Huff, Partington, Schachermayer, Stegall, and Zizler in the 1970s and 1980s. Nowadays it is still an active area of research by many authors, mainly in the related topic of the study of the Bishop-Phelps-Bollobás property introduced in 2008 [9]. We refer to [6, 24, 47] for an account of the recent development. Among the most relevant results on this topic, we would like to mention the following ones by Bourgain [18] and Huff [35]. First, if a Banach space X has the Radon–Nikodým property (RNP in short), then NA(X, Y) is dense in $\mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ for all Banach spaces Y; second, if the space X fails the RNP, then there are equivalent renorming X_1 and X_2 of X such that $NA(X_1, X_2)$ is not dense in $\mathcal{L}(X_1, X_2)$. Therefore, X has the RNP if and only if NA(X', Y) is dense in $\mathcal{L}(X', Y)$ for every equivalent renorming X' of X and every Banach space Y. For range spaces, one implication is still true: if NA(X, Y') is dense in $\mathcal{L}(X, Y')$ for every Banach space X and every equivalent



renorming Y' of a Banach space Y, then Y has the RNP. The question whether the RNP on Y is sufficient to get that NA(X, Y) is dense in $\mathcal{L}(X,Y)$ for every X was open until 1990, when Gowers [33] showed that there exists a Banach space X such that NA(X, ℓ_p) is not dense in $\mathcal{L}(X,\ell_p)$ for 1 . The search of a notion of norm attainment which could be used to get a result analogous to the Bourgain–Huff one, but for range spaces, has been latent since Gowers' result. Our main aim in this paper is to give such a notion.

Definition 1.1 We say that a bounded linear operator $T \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ quasi attains its norm (in short, $T \in \text{QNA}(X, Y)$) if $\overline{T(B_X)} \cap ||T||S_Y \neq \emptyset$. Equivalently, $T \in \text{QNA}(X, Y)$ if and only if there exists a sequence $(x_n) \subseteq S_X$ such that (Tx_n) converges to some vector $u \in Y$ with ||u|| = ||T||; in this case, we say that T quasi attains its norm towards u.

The concept presented in Definition 1.1 appeared previously in a paper by Godefroy [31] of 2015 in the more general setting of Lipschitz maps, as follows. We write $\text{Lip}_0(X, Y)$ for the real Banach space of all Lipschitz maps from a Banach space X to a Banach space Y vanishing at 0, endowed with the Lipschitz number $\|\cdot\|_{\text{Lip}}$ as a norm.

Definition 1.2 Let X and Y be real Banach spaces. A Lipschitz map $f \in \text{Lip}_0(X, Y)$ attains its norm towards $u \in Y$ (in short, $f \in \text{LipA}(X, Y)$) if there exists a sequence of pairs $((x_n, y_n)) \subseteq \widetilde{X}$ such that

$$\frac{f(x_n) - f(y_n)}{\|x_n - y_n\|} \longrightarrow u \quad \text{with } \|u\| = \|f\|_{\text{Lip}},$$

where $\widetilde{X} = \{(x, y) \in X^2 : x \neq y\}.$

Observe that it is clear from the definitions that

$$QNA(X, Y) = \mathcal{L}(X, Y) \cap LipA(X, Y)$$
 (1)

for all Banach spaces X and Y. It is shown in [31] that no Lipschitz isomorphism from c_0 to any renorming Z of c_0 with the Kadec–Klee property belongs to LipA(c_0 , Z) (recall that a Banach space X has the Kadec–Klee property provided the weak topology and the norm topology agree on S_X). This complements an old result by Lindenstrauss [43] concerning linear operators. In the words of Godefroy, the example shows that even the greater flexibility allowed by non linearity (and the weakening of the new definition of norm attainment) does not always provide norm attaining objects. From this example, it follows that LipA(c_0 , Z) is not dense in Lip₀(c_0 , Z) (see [21, Example 3.6] for the details). Besides, from (1), no linear isomorphism from c_0 onto Z belongs to QNA(c_0 , Z), and being the set of linear isomorphisms open in $\mathcal{L}(c_0, Z)$, this gives:

Example 1.3 If Z is a renorming of c_0 with the Kadec-Klee property, then QNA (c_0, Z) is not dense in $\mathcal{L}(c_0, Z)$.

Observe that this result shows that denseness of quasi norm attainment is not a trivial property. On the other hand, going to positive results, the following straightforward remarks will provide the first ones.



133 Page 4 of 32 G. Choi et al.

Remark 1.4 Let X and Y be Banach spaces. Then, we have:

- (a) $NA(X, Y) \subseteq QNA(X, Y)$.
- (b) $\mathcal{K}(X, Y) \subseteq \text{QNA}(X, Y)$.

Now, if NA(X, Y) is dense in $\mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ for a pair of Banach spaces then, in particular, QNA(X, Y) is dense in $\mathcal{L}(X, Y)$. This happens, for instance, when X has the Radon–Nikodým property (Bourgain), or when Y has a geometric property called property β (Lindenstrauss) which is accessible by equivalent renorming to every Banach space (Schachermayer). It is also the case for some concrete pairs of Banach spaces that one may find in the already mentioned survey [4] as $(L_1(\mu), L_1(\nu)), (L_1(\mu), L_{\infty}(\nu)), (C(K_1), C(K_2))$ in the real case, $(L_1(\mu), Y)$ when Y has the RNP, among many others. More recent examples include (X, Y)when X is Asplund and Y is a uniform algebra [20, Theorem 3.6] and $(C_0(L), Y)$ for a locally compact Hausdorff space L and a \mathbb{C} -uniformly convex space Y [5, Theorem 2.4], among others. Similarly, if all operators from a Banach space X to a Banach space Y are compact, then QNA $(X, Y) = \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ by Remark 1.4, so this produce a long list of examples of pairs by using Pitt's Theorem or some results by Rosenthal. For instance, this happens for (X, Y)when X is a closed subspace of ℓ_p and Y is a closed subspace of ℓ_r with $1 \le r$ (Pitt's Theorem, see [10, Theorem 2.1.4], for instance), or when X is a closed subspace of c_0 and Y is a Banach space which does not contain c_0 (Rosenthal [54, Remark 4]), among others.

A further comment on this line is that it was proved in 2014 that there are compact linear operators which cannot be approximated by norm attaining operators, see [46]. This result together with Remark 1.4(b) allow to present an example of pair of Banach spaces (X, Y) such that QNA(X, Y) is dense in $\mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ (actually QNA $(X, Y) = \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$), while NA(X, Y) is not dense. Indeed, it is shown in the proofs of [46, Theorem 1 and Proposition 6] that for $1 , <math>p \ne 2$, there exist closed subspaces X of c_0 and Y of ℓ_p such that NA(X, Y) is not dense in $\mathcal{L}(X, Y)$; on the other hand, $\mathcal{L}(X, Y) = \mathcal{K}(X, Y)$ by Pitt's Theorem (see [10, Theorem 2.1.4]), so QNA $(X, Y) = \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$. Let us also comment that it is still an open problem whether every finite-rank operator can be approximated by norm attaining (finite-rank) operators, both in the real case and in the complex case. We refer the reader interested in this research direction to the recent reference [40].

To give examples of pairs (X, Y) such that QNA(X, Y) is dense while not every operator from X to Y is compact is much easier: just consider the pairs (c_0, c_0) , (ℓ_1, ℓ_1) , and many others for which NA(X, X) is dense (this follows easily from the results in [43]). Nevertheless, to give an example of a pair (X, Y) such that QNA(X, Y) is dense in $\mathcal{L}(X, Y)$, NA(X, Y) is not dense, and $\mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ does not coincide with $\mathcal{K}(X, Y)$ is a little more involved. We will produce many examples of this kind in Sect. 3, see Example 3.7.

About negative results on the density of quasi norm attaining operators, the following immediate result will be the key to transfer some classical results about norm attaining operators to this new setting.

Remark 1.5 Let X and Y be Banach spaces and let $T \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ satisfy that $T(B_X)$ is closed. Then, $T \in NA(X, Y)$ if (and only if) $T \in QNA(X, Y)$.

It is clear that the requirement of the above remark is fulfilled both by operators whose domain is a reflexive space and by isomorphisms (actually, by monomorphisms). The latter will allow us to show in Sect. 2 that some known examples of pairs of Banach spaces (X, Y) for which NA(X, Y) is not dense in $\mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ actually satisfy the stronger result that QNA(X, Y) is not dense in $\mathcal{L}(X, Y)$. This is the case of (c_0, Y) when Y is any strictly convex renorming



of c_0 (see Example 2.3), extending Example 1.3 above, or $(L_1[0, 1], C(S))$ for a Hausdorff compact space S constructed in [37]. The same idea also allows us to deduce from an already commented result of Huff [35] that if a Banach space X does not have the RNP, then there are equivalent renorming X_1 and X_2 of X such that QNA (X_1, X_2) is not dense in $\mathcal{L}(X_1, X_2)$ (see Proposition 2.5). Therefore, a Banach space X has the RNP if (and only if) QNA(X', Y) is dense in $\mathcal{L}(X',Y)$ for every equivalent renorming X' of X and every Banach space Y, giving a stronger result than the Bourgain and Huff one for norm attaining operators. If we focus on range spaces, it also follows from Proposition 2.5 that a Banach space Y has the RNP provided that for every Banach space X and every renorming Y' of Y, the set QNA(X, Y') is dense in $\mathcal{L}(X, Y')$. As we already commented, the reciprocal result for range spaces is not true when it comes to norm attaining operators: a celebrated result due to Gowers [33, Appendix] shows that there is a Banach space X satisfying that $NA(X, \ell_p)$ is not dense in $\mathcal{L}(X, \ell_p)$ for 1 . Here is where the differences between the denseness of norm attainingoperators and the denseness of quasi norm attaining operators are more clear. We show in Theorem 3.1 that strong RNP operators can be approximated by operators which quasi attain their norms in a strong sense (uniquely quasi norm attaining operators, see Definition 3.9). As a consequence, with quasi norm attaining operators we obtain characterizations of the RNP which are symmetric on the domain and range spaces (see Corollary 3.8). This also allows us to present examples of pairs (X, Y) such that QNA(X, Y) is dense, NA(X, Y) is not, and $\mathcal{K}(X,Y) \neq \mathcal{L}(X,Y)$ (Examples 3.7). The particular cases of Theorem 3.1 for compact or weakly compact operators are actually interesting (Corollary 3.11).

The already quoted Theorem 3.1 has also consequences of different type: other kind of applications can be given for Lipschitz maps, multilinear maps, and n-homogeneous polynomials. For instance, LipA(X, Y) is dense in Lip₀(X, Y) for every Banach space X and every Banach space Y with the RNP as stated in Corollary 3.13. On the other hand, there is a natural definition of quasi norm attaining multilinear maps (see Definition 3.14) or quasi norm attaining n-homogeneous polynomials (Definition 3.16) for which the RNP of the range space is a sufficient condition, see Corollaries 3.15 and 3.17, respectively.

We study in Sect. 4 when each of the inclusions in the chain $NA(X, Y) \subset QNA(X, Y) \subset \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ can be an equality. In the first case, we show that the equality NA(X, Y) = QNA(X, Y) characterizes the reflexivity of X if its holds for a nontrivial space Y (and then holds for all Banach spaces Y), see Proposition 4.1. On the other hand, we characterize finite dimensional spaces in terms of the equality $QNA(X, Y) = \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ (Corollary 4.5), and we show that this provides a result related to remotality (Corollary 4.6).

In Sect. 5, we first study the relation between quasi norm attainment and (classical) norm attainment of the adjoint operator. If $T \in \text{QNA}(X, Y)$, then $T^* \in \text{NA}(Y^*, X^*)$ (Proposition 3.3), but the reciprocal result is not true (a concrete example is given in Example 5.3). However, the equivalence holds for weakly compact operators (Proposition 5.1). Secondly, we study possible extensions of Lemma 2.1 on conditions assuring that quasi norm attainment implies (classical) norm attainment. We show that quasi norm attaining operators with closed range and proximinal kernel are actually norm attaining (Proposition 5.7), and the same is true if the annihilator of the kernel of the operator is contained in the set of norm attaining functionals on the space (Proposition 5.11). We will see that some of those conditions cannot be removed from the assumption by presenting specific examples; for instance, Example 5.10 reveals that there exists a quasi norm attaining injective weakly compact operator which does not even belong to the closure of the set of norm attaining operators.

We discuss in Sect. 6 some stability properties for the denseness of quasi norm attaining operators, which can be obtained analogously from the ones on norm attaining operators.

Finally, we devote Sect. 7 to present some remarks and open questions on the subject.



133 Page 6 of 32 G. Choi et al.

2 Some negative examples on the denseness of the set of quasi norm attaining operators

To present some negative results on the denseness of quasi norm attaining operators we will use the following result which has been suggested to us by Payá. Recall that a *monomorphism* between two Banach spaces X and Y is an operator $T \in \mathcal{L}(X,Y)$ which is an isomorphism from X onto T(X). It is well-known that $T \in \mathcal{L}(X,Y)$ is a monomorphism if and only if there is C > 0 such that $||Tx|| \ge C||x||$ for all $x \in X$, and if and only if ker $T = \{0\}$ and T(X) is closed (see [39, § 10.2.3], for instance). It is immediate that the image of the closed unit ball by a monomorphism is closed (indeed, T(X) is closed, T is open and injective), so Remark 1.5 gives the following result.

Lemma 2.1 Let X and Y be Banach spaces. If $T \in QNA(X, Y)$ is a monomorphism, then $T \in NA(X, Y)$.

We will extend Lemma 2.1 in Sect. 5, where we will also show that the hypothesis of monomorphism cannot be relaxed to the injectivity of the operator (see Example 5.10).

As an easy consequence of Lemma 2.1 and the fact that the set of all monomorphisms between two Banach spaces is open in the space of all bounded linear operators (see [1,Lemma 2.4], for instance), we get the following result which will be the key to derive all of our negative results.

Lemma 2.2 Let X and Y be Banach spaces. If $T \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ is a monomorphism such that $T \notin \overline{\text{NA}(X, Y)}$, then $T \notin \overline{\text{QNA}(X, Y)}$.

We are now able to get the negative results. As we commented in the introduction (see Example 1.3), the first example can be deduced from the results in [31]: QNA(c_0 , Z) is not dense in $\mathcal{L}(c_0, Z)$ when Z is an equivalent renorming of c_0 with the Kadec–Klee property. Next, we generalize the result of Lindenstrauss to the quasi norm attainment case where the statement is somewhat similar to the former one. Note that there are strictly convex equivalent renormings of c_0 which does not have the Kadec–Klee property (see [27, Theorem 1 in p. 100], for instance).

Example 2.3 Let X be an infinite-dimensional subspace of c_0 and let Y be a strictly convex renorming of c_0 . Then, QNA(X, Y) is not dense in $\mathcal{L}(X,Y)$. In particular, QNA(c_0 , Y) is not dense in $\mathcal{L}(c_0,Y)$.

Indeed, it follows from [46, Lemma 2] that NA(X, Y) is contained in the set of finite-rank operators, so the inclusion from X to Y (which is a monomorphism) does not belong to $\overline{QNA(X, Y)}$ by Lemma 2.2.

The next example extends the result [38, Corollary 2], providing a new example such that QNA(X, Y) is not dense in $\mathcal{L}(X, Y)$.

Example 2.4 There exists a compact Hausdorff space S such that the set QNA($L_1[0, 1]$, C(S)) is not dense in $\mathcal{L}(L_1[0, 1], C(S))$.

Proof We basically follow the arguments in [38]. Let S be given by the weak*-closure in $L_{\infty}[0, 1]$ of the set

$$S_0 = \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^n \left(1 - \frac{1}{2^i} \right) \chi_{D_i} \colon D_1, \dots, D_n \subseteq [0, 1] \text{ are disjoint, } \mu(D_i) < \frac{1}{2^i} \right\},\,$$



133

and define $T_0 \in \mathcal{L}(L_1[0, 1], C(S))$ by

$$[T_0 f](s) := \int_0^1 f(t)s(t) dt$$
 for $s \in S$, $f \in L_1[0, 1]$

as in [38, Corollary 2]. It is proved there that T_0 cannot be approximated by elements in $NA(L_1[0, 1], C(S))$, so the result follows from Lemma 2.2 if we prove that T_0 is a monomorphism. Indeed, choose any $f \in L_1[0,1]$, and we may assume by taking -f if necessary that

$$\int_A f \, d\mu \ge \frac{1}{2} \|f\|_1$$

where $A = \{w \in [0, 1]: f(w) \ge 0\}$. Let $(f_n) \subseteq L_1[0, 1]$ be a sequence of nonzero simple functions such that

$$||f_n - f|| < \frac{1}{n}$$
 for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

For each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we can choose $I_n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $D_1, \ldots, D_{I_n} \subset A$ with $\mu(D_i) < 1/2^i$ for $i = 1, \ldots, I_n$ such that

$$\mu\left(A\setminus\bigcup_{i=1}^{I_n}D_i\right)<\frac{1}{4}\frac{\|f\|_1}{\|f_n\|_{\infty}}.$$

Now, consider $s = \sum_{i=1}^{l_n} \left(1 - \frac{1}{2^i}\right) \chi_{D_i} \in S$. Then, we have that

$$\begin{split} \left| [T_0 f_n](s) \right| &= \left| \int_0^1 f_n(w) s(w) \, d\mu(w) \right| \\ &= \int_{\bigcup_{i=1}^{I_n} D_i} f_n(w) s(w) \, d\mu(w) \ge \frac{1}{2} \int_{\bigcup_{i=1}^{I_n} D_i} f_n(w) \, d\mu(w) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \left[\int_A f_n(w) \, d\mu(w) - \int_{A \setminus \bigcup_{i=1}^{I_n} D_i} f_n(w) \, d\mu(w) \right] \\ &\ge \frac{1}{2} \left(\int_A f(w) \, d\mu(w) - \frac{1}{n} \right) - \frac{1}{2} \, \mu \left(A \setminus \bigcup_{i=1}^{I_n} D_i \right) \, \|f_n\|_{\infty} \\ &\ge \frac{1}{4} \|f\|_1 - \frac{1}{2n} - \frac{1}{8} \|f\|_1 = \frac{1}{8} \|f\|_1 - \frac{1}{2n}, \end{split}$$

which implies that $||T_0f_n|| \ge \frac{1}{8}||f||_1 - \frac{1}{2n}$ for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$. As n tends to ∞ , we obtain that $||T_0f|| \geq \frac{1}{8}||f||_1$. It follows that T_0 is a monomorphism between $L_1[0,1]$ and C(S) since $f \in L_1[0, 1]$ was arbitrary.

The last negative result that we want to present is related to the Radon-Nikodým property. It was proved by Huff [35], extending previous results of Bourgain [18], that if a Banach space X fails to have the RNP, then there exist Banach spaces X_1 and X_2 , which are both isomorphic to X, such that the formal identity from X_1 to X_2 cannot be approximated by elements of $NA(X_1, X_2)$. Combining this fact with Lemma 2.2, we have just obtained the following result, stronger than Huff's one.

Proposition 2.5 If a Banach space X does not have the RNP, then there exist Banach spaces X_1 and X_2 both isomorphic to X such that QNA(X_1, X_2) is not dense in $\mathcal{L}(X_1, X_2)$.



133 Page 8 of 32 G. Choi et al.

It follows from Bourgain's result [18, Theorem 5] that the above proposition is actually a characterization of the RNP. We will show in the next section stronger characterizations of the RNP using quasi norm attaining operators which are not valid for norm attaining operators (see Corollary 3.8).

3 The relation with the Radon–Nikodým property: a new positive result

We begin this section with our main result. Recall that a closed convex subset D of a Banach space X is said to be an RNP set if every subset of D is dentable. Observe that a Banach space X has the RNP if and only if every closed bounded convex subset of X is an RNP set (see [19]). Given Banach spaces X and Y, $T \in \mathcal{L}(X,Y)$ is a strong Radon–Nikodým operator (strong RNP operator in short) if $\overline{T(B_X)}$ is an RNP set.

Theorem 3.1 Let X and Y be Banach spaces. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given and let $T \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ be a strong RNP operator. Then, there exists $S \in \text{QNA}(X, Y)$ such that

- (i) $||S-T|| < \varepsilon$,
- (ii) there exists $z_0 \in \overline{S(B_X)} \cap ||S||S_Y$ such that whenever $(x_n) \subseteq B_X$ satisfies that $||Sx_n|| \longrightarrow ||S||$, we may find a sequence $(\theta_n) \subseteq \mathbb{T}$ such that $S(\theta_n x_n) \longrightarrow z_0$; in particular, there is $\theta_0 \in \mathbb{T}$ and a subsequence $(x_{\sigma(n)})$ of (x_n) such that $Sx_{\sigma(n)} \longrightarrow \theta_0 z_0$.

In order to give a proof of Theorem 3.1, we need a deep result proved by Stegall, usually known as the Bourgain–Stegall non-linear optimization principle. For a Banach space Y, a point y_0 of a bounded subset $D \subseteq Y$ is a *strongly exposed point* if there is $y^* \in Y^*$ such that whenever a sequence $(y_n) \subseteq D$ satisfies that $\lim_n y^*(y_n) = \sup\{y^*(y): y \in D\}$, y_n converges to y_0 (in particular, $y^*(y_0) = \sup\{y^*(y): y \in D\}$). In this case, we say that y^* *strongly exposes* D at y_0 and that y^* is a *strongly exposing functional* for D at y_0 .

Lemma 3.2 (Bourgain–Stegall non-linear optimization principle, [57, Theorem 14]) *Suppose* D is a bounded RNP set of a Banach space Y and $\phi: D \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ is upper semicontinuous and bounded above. Then, the set

$$\{y^* \in Y^* : \phi + \text{Re}y^* \text{ strongly exposes } D\}$$

is a dense G_{δ} subset of Y^* .

Proof of Theorem 3.1 Assume that $||T|| \neq 0$. As $\overline{T(B_X)}$ is an RNP set, by Lemma 3.2 applied to the function $\phi(y) = ||y||$ for every $y \in D = \overline{T(B_X)}$, there exists $y_0^* \in Y^*$ with $||y_0^*|| < \varepsilon/||T||$ such that $||\cdot|| + \text{Re}y_0^*$ strongly exposes $\overline{T(B_X)}$ at some $y_0 \in \overline{T(B_X)}$. Then,

$$||y|| + \text{Re}y_0^*(y) \le ||y_0|| + \text{Re}y_0^*(y_0)$$
 for all $y \in \overline{T(B_X)}$.

By rotating $y \in \overline{T(B_X)}$, we also obtain that

$$||y|| + |y_0^*(y)| \le ||y_0|| + \text{Re}y_0^*(y_0)$$
 for all $y \in \overline{T(B_X)}$, (2)

and we have that $y_0^*(y_0) = |y_0^*(y_0)|$. Besides, if $(y_n) \subseteq \overline{T(B_X)}$ satisfies that

$$||y_n|| + \text{Re}y_0^*(y_n) \longrightarrow ||y_0|| + \text{Re}y_0^*(y_0),$$

then $y_n \longrightarrow y_0$. So, if $(y_n) \subseteq \overline{T(B_X)}$ satisfies that

$$||y_n|| + |y_0^*(y_n)| \longrightarrow ||y_0|| + y_0^*(y_0),$$
 (3)



then we can find $(\theta_n) \subseteq \mathbb{T}$ so that $\theta_n y_n \longrightarrow y_0$.

Now, define $S \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ by

$$Sx := Tx + y_0^*(Tx) \frac{y_0}{\|y_0\|}$$
 for every $x \in X$.

It is easy to see that $||S - T|| \le ||y_0^*|| ||T|| < \varepsilon$ and that

$$||Sx|| \le ||Tx|| + |y_0^*(Tx)| \le ||y_0|| + y_0^*(y_0)$$
 for all $x \in B_X$

by (2). Write $z_0 = \left(1 + \frac{y_0^*(y_0)}{\|y_0\|}\right) y_0$ and observe that $\|z_0\| = \|y_0\| + y_0^*(y_0)$. Now, take a sequence $(x_n) \subseteq B_X$ such that $Tx_n \longrightarrow y_0 \in \overline{T(B_X)}$, and observe that

$$Sx_n = Tx_n + y_0^*(Tx_n) \frac{y_0}{\|y_0\|} \longrightarrow \left(1 + \frac{y_0^*(y_0)}{\|y_0\|}\right) y_0 = z_0.$$

It follows that $||S|| = ||y_0|| + y_0^*(y_0) = ||z_0||$ and thus, $S \in \text{QNA}(X, Y)$. Moreover, if $(z_n) \subseteq B_X$ satisfies $||Sz_n|| \longrightarrow ||S||$, then we have

$$||y_0|| + y_0^*(y_0) = \lim_n ||Tz_n + y_0^*(Tz_n) \frac{y_0}{||y_0||}||$$

$$\leq \lim_n (||Tz_n|| + |y_0^*(Tz_n)|)$$

$$\leq ||y_0|| + y_0^*(y_0) \text{ by (2)}.$$

Thus by applying (3), we can find $(\theta_n) \subseteq \mathbb{T}$ such that $T(\theta_n z_n) \longrightarrow y_0$, and hence

$$S(\theta_n z_n) = T(\theta_n z_n) + y_0^* \left(T(\theta_n z_n) \right) \frac{y_0}{\|y_0\|} \longrightarrow \left(1 + \frac{y_0^*(y_0)}{\|y_0\|} \right) y_0 = z_0.$$

Some remarks on the operator constructed in the proof of Theorem 3.1 are pertinent. We first need the following easy result which relates the quasi norm attainment with the norm attainment of the adjoint operator. We will provide some comments and extensions of this result in Sect. 5. Recall that the *adjoint operator* $T^*: Y^* \longrightarrow X^*$ of an operator $T \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ is defined by $[T^*y^*](x) := y^*(Tx)$ and satisfies that $T^* \in \mathcal{L}(Y^*, X^*)$ with $||T^*|| = ||T||$.

Proposition 3.3 Let X and Y be Banach spaces and $T \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$. If $T \in \text{QNA}(X, Y)$, then $T^* \in \text{NA}(Y^*, X^*)$. Moreover, if T quasi attains its norm towards $y_0 \in ||T||S_Y$, then T^* attains its norm at any $y^* \in S_{Y^*}$ such that $y^*(y_0) = ||y_0||$.

Proof Let $(x_n) \subseteq B_X$ be such that $Tx_n \longrightarrow y_0 \in ||T||S_Y$. Take $y^* \in S_{Y^*}$ with $|y^*(y_0)| = ||y_0|| = ||T||$. Then

$$||T^*y^*|| \ge |[T^*y^*](x_n)| = |y^*(Tx_n)| \longrightarrow |y^*(y_0)| = ||T||,$$

which implies that $||T^*y^*|| = ||T||$.

We are now able to present the remarks on the construction given in the proof of Theorem 3.1.

Remark 3.4 Let X and Y be Banach spaces and let $T \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ be a strong RNP operator. Consider for $\varepsilon > 0$ the point $y_0 \in \overline{T(B_X)} \subset Y$ and the operator $S \in \text{QNA}(X, Y)$ given in the proof of Theorem 3.1. Then,



133 Page 10 of 32 G. Choi et al.

- (a) T S is a rank-one operator.
- (b) $S(B_X) \subseteq T(B_X) + \{\lambda y_0 : \lambda \in \mathbb{K}, |\lambda| \le \rho\}$ for some $\rho > 0$.
- (c) $\overline{S(X)} = \overline{T(X)}$.
- (d) S quasi attains its norm towards a point of the form $z_0 = \lambda y_0$ for some $\lambda > 0$.
- (e) S^* attains its norm at some $z^* \in S_{Y^*}$ which strongly exposes $\overline{S(B_X)}$ at z_0 .

Proof We only have to prove (e), the other assertions are obvious from the proof of Theorem 3.1. Let $z_0 \in \overline{S(B_X)} \cap ||S||S_Y$ be the point satisfying the condition stated in Theorem 3.1.(ii) and take any $z^* \in S_{Y^*}$ such that $z^*(z_0) = ||z_0|| = ||S||$. As $S \in \text{QNA}(X, Y)$ quasi attains its norm towards z_0 , Proposition 3.3 gives that S^* attains its norm at z^* .

We claim that z^* strongly exposes $\overline{S(B_X)}$ at z_0 . Indeed, suppose that $(z_n) \subseteq \overline{S(B_X)}$ satisfies that

$$\operatorname{Re}z^*(z_n) \longrightarrow \sup \{\operatorname{Re}z^*(y) \colon y \in \overline{S(B_X)}\} = \|z_0\|.$$

Choose $(x_n) \subseteq B_X$ such that $||Sx_n - z_n|| < 1/n$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Observe that $z^*(Sx_n) \longrightarrow ||z_0||$ and so, in particular, $||Sx_n|| \longrightarrow ||S||$. By Theorem 3.1.(ii), there is a sequence $(\theta_n) \subseteq \mathbb{T}$ such that $S(\theta_n x_n) \longrightarrow z_0$. Since $(1 - \theta_n)z^*(Sx_n) \longrightarrow 0$ and $z^*(Sx_n) \longrightarrow ||z_0|| \neq 0$, we obtain that $\theta_n \longrightarrow 1$. Therefore, we deduce that $Sx_n \longrightarrow z_0$. Hence, $z_n \longrightarrow z_0$ as desired.

As a consequence of Theorem 3.1 and [18, Theorem 5], if either X or Y has the RNP, then QNA(X, Y) is dense in $\mathcal{L}(X,Y)$.

Corollary 3.5 Let X, Y be Banach spaces. If X or Y has the RNP, then QNA(X, Y) is dense in $\mathcal{L}(X,Y)$.

This covers the case when at least one of the spaces *X* or *Y* is reflexive. Actually, in this case the result is also covered by the next statement which follows from Theorem 3.1, the well-known fact that weakly compact convex sets are RNP sets (see [19], for instance), and Remark 3.4(a).

Corollary 3.6 For every Banach spaces X and Y,

$$\overline{\text{QNA}(X,Y) \cap \mathcal{W}(X,Y)} = \mathcal{W}(X,Y).$$

We may present now examples of pairs of Banach spaces (X, Y) for which QNA(X, Y) is dense in $\mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ while NA(X, Y) is not and that not every operator is compact.

- **Example 3.7** (a) Let Y be a strictly convex infinite-dimensional Banach space with the RNP (in particular, let $Y = \ell_p$ with 1). Then, there is a Banach space <math>X such that NA(X, Y) is not dense in $\mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ and $\mathcal{K}(X, Y)$ does not cover the whole of $\mathcal{L}(X, Y)$, while QNA(X, Y) is.
- (b) There is a Banach space X such that $NA(X, \ell_1)$ is not dense and $\mathcal{K}(X, \ell_1)$ does not cover the whole of $\mathcal{L}(X, \ell_1)$, while $QNA(X, \ell_1)$ is dense in $\mathcal{L}(X, \ell_1)$.
- (c) In the complex case, given a decreasing sequence $w \in c_0 \setminus \ell_1$ of positive numbers, let d(w, 1) be the corresponding Lorentz sequences space and let $d_*(w, 1)$ be its natural predual. If $w \in \ell_2$, then $NA(d_*(w, 1), d(w, 1))$ is not dense in $\mathcal{L}(d_*(w, 1), d(w, 1))$ while $QNA(d_*(w, 1), d(w, 1))$ is dense as d(w, 1) has the RNP.

Examples 3.7(a) follows from [2, Theorem 2.3] (for $Y = \ell_p$ is actually consequence of [33, Appendix]) and Examples 3.7(b) follows from [3, Theorem 2.3]. For (c), we refer to [22, §4] for the definitions and basic properties of the spaces; the result on non-denseness of



 $NA(d_*(w, 1), d(w, 1))$ appears in [22, §4], while the RNP of d(w, 1) is immediate as it is a separable dual space.

We do not know whether there is a Banach space Z such that QNA(Z, Z) is dense in $\mathcal{L}(Z, Z)$ while NA(Z, Z) is not dense, see the comments just after Problem 7.3.

We are now ready to present another important consequence of Theorem 3.1: two characterization of the RNP in terms of denseness of quasi norm attaining operators. Note that the RNP is an isomorphic property and so it is a sufficient condition to get the universal denseness conditions on equivalent renormings.

Corollary 3.8 *Let Z be a Banach space. Then, the following are equivalent.*

- (a) Z has the RNP.
- (b) QNA(Z', Y) is dense in $\mathcal{L}(Z', Y)$ for every Banach space Y and every equivalent renorming Z' of Z.
- (c) QNA(X, Z') is dense in L(X, Z') for every Banach space X and every equivalent renorming Z' of Z.

Proof (a) \Rightarrow (b) is a consequence of [18, Theorem 5]. (b) \Rightarrow (a) and (c) \Rightarrow (a) can be obtained from Proposition 2.5. Finally, (a) \Rightarrow (c) follows from Theorem 3.1.

Let us comment that in the case of norm attaining operators in the classical sense, while the analogous statement of (a) and (b) are equivalent, the same is not true for statement (c), as (a) \Rightarrow (c) does not hold (see Examples 3.7). Therefore, the use of quasi norm attaintment gives a symmetry in the characterization of the Radon–Nikodým property which is not possible for the classical norm attainment.

We next would like to take the advantage of Theorem 3.1 in particular cases. To this end, we introduce some terminologies here.

Definition 3.9 Let X and Y be Banach spaces. We say that $T \in \mathcal{L}(X,Y)$ uniquely quasi attains its norm if there is $u \in Y$ such that every sequence $(x_n) \subset B_X$ satisfying $||Tx_n|| \longrightarrow ||T||$ has a subsequence $(x_{\sigma(n)})$ such that $Tx_{\sigma(n)} \longrightarrow \theta u$ for some $\theta \in \mathbb{T}$. In this case, we will say that T uniquely quasi attains its norm towards u and that u is a uniquely quasi norm attaining operator. Of course, a uniquely quasi norm attaining operator is quasi norm attaining.

While it is obvious that norm attaining operators are quasi norm attaining (Remark 1.4), it is not true that norm attaining operators are uniquely quasi norm attaining: the identity on any Banach space of dimension greater than one is clearly an example. Also, the fact that B_X is an RNP set does not imply that so is $\overline{T(B_X)}$: indeed, consider a surjective map $T \in \mathcal{L}(\ell_1, c_0)$ with $\overline{T(B_{\ell_1})} = B_{c_0}$ (see [29, Theorem 5.1] for example). Therefore, a version of Corollary 3.5 for uniquely quasi norm attainment does not follow from Theorem 3.1 for the RNP in the domain space. However, the following notion introduced by Bourgain in [18, p. 268], extending the concept of strongly exposing functional, forces uniquely quasi norm attainment. For Banach spaces X and Y, an operator $T \in \mathcal{L}(X,Y)$ absolutely strongly exposes the set B_X (T is an absolutely strongly exposing operator) if there exists $x \in B_X$ such that whenever a sequence $(x_n) \subset B_X$ satisfies that $\lim_n \|Tx_n\| = \|T\|$, there is a subsequence $(x_{\sigma(n)})$ which converges to θx for some $\theta \in \mathbb{T}$. It is clear that an absolutely strongly exposing operator $T \in \mathcal{L}(X,Y)$ is uniquely quasi norm attaining. It follows then from [18, Theorem 5] that if B_X is an RNP set (i.e. X has the RNP), then the set of uniquely quasi norm attaining operators is dense in $\mathcal{L}(X, Y)$. Therefore, the following result follows from this fact and Theorem 3.1.



133 Page 12 of 32 G. Choi et al.

Corollary 3.10 Let X and Y be Banach spaces. If either X or Y has the RNP, then the set of uniquely quasi norm attaining operators from X to Y is dense in $\mathcal{L}(X,Y)$.

Two more consequences of Theorem 3.1 can be stated for compact operators and weakly compact operators (as compact and weakly compact sets are RNP sets) with the help of Remark 3.4(a), as it follows that when we start with a compact or weakly compact operator T in the proof of Theorem 3.1, the operator S that it is obtained is compact or weakly compact, respectively. In the case of compact operators, we already know that they quasi attain their norms (see Remark 1.4(b)), but the result is still interesting as it is stronger than that (observe that the identity on a two-dimensional Banach space is compact but it is not uniquely quasi norm attaining).

Corollary 3.11 *Let X and Y be Banach spaces.*

- (a) Compact operators from X to Y which uniquely quasi attain their norm are dense in $\mathcal{K}(X,Y)$.
- (b) Weakly compact operators from X to Y which uniquely quasi attain their norm are dense in $\mathcal{W}(X,Y)$.

The following result is an immediate consequence of Corollary 3.10, which will be useful in many applications later on. We write $\overline{\text{co}}(A)$ to denote the closed convex hull of a subset A of a Banach space.

Corollary 3.12 Let X and Y be Banach spaces, $\Gamma \subseteq B_X$ such that $\overline{\operatorname{co}}(\mathbb{T}\Gamma) = B_X$ and suppose that Y has the RNP. Then, for every $T \in \mathcal{L}(X,Y)$ and every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is $S \in \mathcal{L}(X,Y)$ with $\|T - S\| < \varepsilon$ and a sequence $(x_n) \subseteq \Gamma$ such that (Sx_n) converges to some $y_0 \in \|S\|S_Y$. In other words, the set

$$\{T \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y) : Tx_n \longrightarrow y_0 \text{ for some } (x_n) \subseteq \Gamma \text{ and } y_0 \in ||T||S_Y\}$$

is dense in $\mathcal{L}(X, Y)$.

Proof Given $T \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$, since Y has the RNP, Corollary 3.10 provides an operator $S \in \text{QNA}(X, Y)$ such that $||T - S|| < \varepsilon$ and $z_0 \in ||S||S_Y$ such that given any sequence $(x_n) \subseteq B_X$ with $||Sx_n|| \longrightarrow ||S||$, then there exists a subsequence $(x_{\sigma(n)})$ and $\theta_0 \in \mathbb{T}$ such that $Sx_{\sigma(n)} \longrightarrow \theta_0 z_0$. Now, as

$$\sup\{\|Sx\| : x \in \Gamma\} = \|S\|$$

by the assumption, we may find a sequence $(x_n) \subseteq \Gamma$ such that $||Sx_n|| \longrightarrow ||S||$ and the result follows.

The rest of this section is devoted to the applications of Corollary 3.12 in some situations: norm attainment on Lipschitz maps, multilinear maps, and homogeneous polynomials.

3.1 An application: Lipschitz maps attaining the norm towards vectors

As a consequence of Corollary 3.10, we obtain the following result.

Corollary 3.13 Let X and Y be real Banach spaces such that Y has the RNP. Then, LipA(X, Y) is dense in Lip $_0(X, Y)$.



133

In order to prove Corollary 3.13, we need to introduce some terminology. The *Lipschitz*free space $\mathcal{F}(X)$ over X is a closed linear subspace of $\operatorname{Lip}_0(X,\mathbb{R})^*$ defined by

$$\mathcal{F}(X) := \overline{\operatorname{span}} \{ \delta_x : x \in X \},$$

where δ_x is the canonical point evaluation of a Lipschitz map f at x given by $\delta_x(f) := f(x)$. We refer the reader to the paper [30] and the book [60] (where it is called Arens–Eells space) for a detailed account on Lipschitz free spaces. The following properties of $\mathcal{F}(X)$ can be found there. It is well known that $\mathcal{F}(X)$ is an isometric predual of $\text{Lip}_0(X,\mathbb{R})$. Moreover, for any Lipschitz map $f \in \text{Lip}_0(X,Y)$, we can define a unique bounded linear operator $T_f \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{F}(X), Y)$ by $T_f(\delta_x) := f(x)$, which satisfies that $||T_f|| = ||f||_{Lip}$; furthermore, $\operatorname{Lip}_0(X,Y)$ is isometrically isomorphic to $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{F}(X),Y)$ via this correspondence between f and T_f . We define the set of *molecules* of X by

$$\operatorname{Mol}(X) := \left\{ m_{x,y} := \frac{\delta_x - \delta_y}{\|x - y\|} \colon (x, y) \in \widetilde{X} \right\} \subseteq \mathcal{F}(X).$$

An easy consequence of the Hahn-Banach theorem is that $B_{\mathcal{F}(X)} = \overline{\operatorname{co}}(\operatorname{Mol}(X))$.

Proof of Corollary 3.13 Let $\varepsilon > 0$ and $f \in \text{Lip}_0(X, Y)$ be given. As Y has the RNP, applying Corollary 3.12 for the set $\Gamma = \text{Mol}(X)$, there exists $G \in \text{QNA}(\mathcal{F}(X), Y)$, a sequence $(m_{p_n,q_n}) \in \text{Mol}(X)$, and $y_0 \in ||G||S_Y$ such that

$$||T_f - G|| < \varepsilon$$
 and $G(m_{p_n,q_n}) \longrightarrow y_0$.

If we take (the unique) $g \in \text{Lip}_0(X, Y)$ such that $T_g = G$, then $||f - g||_{\text{Lip}} = ||T_f - G|| < \varepsilon$ and

$$\frac{g(p_n) - g(q_n)}{\|p_n - q_n\|} = G\left(m_{p_n, q_n}\right) \longrightarrow y_0.$$

This shows that $g \in \text{LipA}(X, Y)$ and it completes the proof.

3.2 An application: quasi norm attaining multilinear maps and homogeneous polynomials

Let X_1, \ldots, X_n and Y be Banach spaces. The set of all bounded n-linear maps from $X_1 \times$ $\cdots \times X_n$ to Y will be denoted by $\mathcal{L}(X_1, \ldots, X_n; Y)$. As usual, we define the norm of $A \in \mathcal{L}(X_1, \ldots, X_n; Y)$ by

$$||A|| = \sup\{||A(x_1, \dots, x_n)||: (x_1, \dots, x_n) \in B_{X_1} \times \dots \times B_{X_n}\}.$$

The following definition is a natural extension of quasi norm attainment from linear operators to multilinear maps.

Definition 3.14 We say that $A \in \mathcal{L}(X_1, \ldots, X_n; Y)$ quasi attains its norm (in short, $A \in \mathcal{L}(X_1, \ldots, X_n; Y)$) $QNA(X_1, \ldots, X_n; Y))$ if

$$\overline{A(B_{X_1}\times\cdots\times B_{X_n})}\cap \|A\|S_Y\neq\emptyset,$$

or, equivalently, if there exist a sequence $(x_m^{(1)}, \ldots, x_m^{(n)}) \subseteq B_{X_1} \times \cdots \times B_{X_n}$ and a point $u \in ||A||S_Y$ such that

$$A(x_m^{(1)},\ldots,x_m^{(n)})\longrightarrow u.$$

In this case, we say that A quasi attains its norm towards u.



133 Page 14 of 32 G. Choi et al.

Here, the consequence of Corollary 3.12 in this setting is the following.

Corollary 3.15 Let $X_1, ..., X_n$ and Y be Banach spaces. If Y has the RNP, then QNA($X_1, ..., X_n; Y$) is dense in $\mathcal{L}(X_1, ..., X_n; Y)$.

Analogously to what happens with Lipschitz maps, we present a way to linearize multilinear maps: the *projective tensor product* of X_1, X_2, \ldots, X_n , which will be denoted by $X_1 \otimes_{\pi} \cdots \otimes_{\pi} X_n$, and it is the space $X_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes X_n$ endowed with the *projective norm* π . We write $X_1 \widetilde{\otimes}_{\pi} \cdots \widetilde{\otimes}_{\pi} X_n$ for its completion. It is well known that given any $A \in \mathcal{L}(X_1, \ldots, X_n; Y)$, there is a unique $\widehat{A} \in \mathcal{L}(X_1 \widetilde{\otimes}_{\pi} \cdots \widetilde{\otimes}_{\pi} X_n, Y)$ such that

$$\widehat{A}(x_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes x_n) = A(x_1, \dots, x_n)$$
 for all $x_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes x_n \in X_1 \widetilde{\otimes}_{\pi} \cdots \widetilde{\otimes}_{\pi} X_n$.

Moreover, the spaces $\mathcal{L}(X_1,\ldots,X_n;Y)$ and $\mathcal{L}\left(X_1\widetilde{\otimes}_{\pi}\cdots\widetilde{\otimes}_{\pi}X_n,Y\right)$ are isometrically isomorphic through this correspondence and the unit ball of $X_1\widetilde{\otimes}_{\pi}\cdots\widetilde{\otimes}_{\pi}X_n$ is the absolutely closed convex hull of

$$B_{X_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes B_{X_n} := \{x_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes x_n : x_i \in B_{X_i}, 1 \leq i \leq n\}$$

(see [25, Proposition 16.8], for instance).

Proof of Corollary 3.15 Let $\varepsilon > 0$ and $A \in \mathcal{L}(X_1, \dots, X_n; Y)$ be given. Let $\widehat{A} \in \mathcal{L}(X_1 \widetilde{\otimes}_{\pi} \cdots \widetilde{\otimes}_{\pi} X_n, Y)$ be the corresponding linear operator on the tensor product space defined as above. Now, it follows by Corollary 3.12 applied to

$$\Gamma := B_{X_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes B_{X_n} \subseteq B_{X_1 \widetilde{\otimes}_{\pi} \cdots \widetilde{\otimes}_{\pi} X_n},$$

that there exist $\widehat{S} \in \text{QNA}(X_1 \widetilde{\otimes}_\pi \cdots \widetilde{\otimes}_\pi X_n, Y)$, a sequence $(x_1^{(m)} \otimes \cdots \otimes x_n^{(m)})_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq \Gamma$ and a point $u \in \|\widehat{S}\|S_Y$ such that $\|\widehat{S} - \widehat{A}\| < \varepsilon$ and $\widehat{S}(x_1^{(m)} \otimes \cdots \otimes x_n^{(m)}) \longrightarrow u$. Define a n-linear map $S \in \mathcal{L}(X_1, \ldots, X_n; Y)$ by $S(x_1, \ldots, x_n) := \widehat{S}(x_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes x_n)$. Then, we get $S(x_1^{(m)}, \ldots, x_n^{(m)}) \longrightarrow u$ with $\|u\| = \|\widehat{S}\| = \|S\|$ and $\|S - A\| < \varepsilon$.

Finally, we can get a similar result on quasi norm attaining homogeneous polynomials. Let X and Y be Banach spaces, and let $n \in \mathbb{N}$ be given. Recall that an n-linear mapping $A \in \mathcal{L}(X, \stackrel{n}{\dots}, X; Y)$ is said to be *symmetric* if $A(x_1, \dots, x_n) = A(x_{\sigma(1)}, \dots, x_{\sigma(n)})$ for any $(x_1, \dots, x_n) \in X \times \stackrel{n}{\dots} \times X$ and any permutation σ of the set $\{1, \dots, n\}$. We let $\mathcal{L}_s(X, \stackrel{n}{\dots}, X; Y)$ denote the space of all bounded symmetric n-linear mappings endowed with the norm

$$||A|| = \sup\{||A(x,...,x)|| : x \in B_X\}.$$

A mapping $P: X \longrightarrow Y$ is an *n-homogeneous polynomial* if there is a symmetric *n*-linear map $\check{P} \in \mathcal{L}_s(X, \overset{n}{\dots}, X; Y)$ such that $P(x) = \check{P}(x, \dots, x)$. We denote by $\mathcal{P}(^nX; Y)$ the space of all continuous *n*-homogeneous polynomials from X to Y equipped with the usual norm $\|P\| = \sup_{x \in B_X} \|Px\|$ for $P \in \mathcal{P}(^nX; Y)$.

Definition 3.16 We say that $P \in \mathcal{P}(^nX; Y)$ quasi attains its norm (in short, $P \in \text{QNA}(\mathcal{P}(^nX; Y))$) if

$$\overline{P(B_X)} \cap ||T||S_Y \neq \emptyset,$$

or equivalently, if there exist a sequence $(x_m) \subseteq B_X$ and a point $u \in ||P||S_Y$ such that $Px_m \longrightarrow u$.



The consequence of Corollary 3.12 in this setting is the following.

Corollary 3.17 Let X and Y be Banach spaces, and let $n \in \mathbb{N}$ be given. If Y has the RNP, then $QNA(\mathcal{P}(^{n}X; Y))$ is dense in $\mathcal{P}(^{n}X; Y)$.

The proof is almost the same as the one given for Corollary 3.15. Here, the linearization of n-homogeneous polynomial is done through the n-fold symmetric tensor product of a Banach space X, endowed with the symmetric tensor norm π_s . We refer the reader to the Chapter 16 of the recent book [25] for details. The needed concrete reference there to adapt the proof of Corollary 3.15 to homogeneous polynomial is [25, Proposition 16.23].

4 On the set of quasi norm attaining operators

Given Banach spaces X and Y, our goal here is to analyze when any of the inclusion

$$NA(X, Y) \subseteq ONA(X, Y) \subseteq \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$$

can be an equality. For the first inclusion, the equality allows to characterize reflexivity in terms of quasi norm attaining operators.

Proposition 4.1 *Let X be a Banach space. Then the following statements are equivalent:*

- (a) X is reflexive.
- (b) NA(X, Y) = QNA(X, Y) for every Banach space Y.
- (c) NA(X, Y) = QNA(X, Y) for a nontrivial Banach space Y.

Proof (a)⇒(b). For every operator defined on a reflexive space, the image of the unit ball is a weak-compact (so norm-closed) set. Therefore, Remark 1.5 gives the result.

(b) \Rightarrow (c) is clear, so it remains to show that (c) \Rightarrow (a). Fix any $x^* \in X^*$ and $y_0 \in S_Y$, and consider the rank-one operator $T = x^* \otimes y_0$ given by $T(x) := x^*(x)y_0$. It is clear that $||T|| = ||x^*||$ and that $T \in \text{NA}(X, Y)$ if and only if $x^* \in \text{NA}(X, \mathbb{K})$. On the other hand, as rank-one operators are compact, $T \in \text{QNA}(X, Y)$ by Remark 1.4(b). Now, if NA(X, Y) = QNA(X, Y), it follows that $\text{NA}(X, \mathbb{K}) = X^*$, and this implies that X is reflexive by James' theorem (see [29, Corollary 3.131] for instance).

The version for range spaces of the above result does not give any interesting characterization.

Remark 4.2 There is no nontrivial Banach space Y such that NA(X, Y) = QNA(X, Y) for every Banach space X.

Indeed, just consider a non-reflexive Banach space X and observe that Proposition 4.1 implies that $NA(X, Y) \neq QNA(X, Y)$.

Our next aim is to discuss the equality in the inclusion $QNA(X, Y) = \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ to show that finite-dimensionality can also be described in terms of the set of quasi norm attaining operators: every infinite-dimensional Banach space can be the domain or the range of bounded linear operators which do not quasi attain their norms. The case of the domain space is easier and it is based on [48, Lemma 2.2].

Proposition 4.3 If X is an infinite dimensional Banach space, then there is $T \in \mathcal{L}(X, c_0)$ which does not belong to QNA (X, c_0) .



133 Page 16 of 32 G. Choi et al.

Proof By the Josefson–Nissenzweig theorem (see [28, § XII]), there exists a weak* null sequence $(x_n^*) \subseteq S_{X^*}$. Define an operator $T: X \longrightarrow c_0$ by

$$T(x) = \left(\frac{m}{m+1}x_m^*(x)\right)_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \quad \text{for } x \in X.$$

It is clear that ||T|| = 1. Assume that there exist a sequence $(x_n) \subseteq S_X$ and a vector $u \in S_{c_0}$ such that $Tx_n \longrightarrow u = (u_m)_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$. Then, for each $m \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\frac{m}{m+1}x_m^*(x_n) \longrightarrow u_m$$

as $n \longrightarrow \infty$. Therefore,

$$|u_m| = \lim_{n \to \infty} \left| \frac{m}{m+1} x_m^*(x_n) \right| \le \frac{m}{m+1} < 1$$

for every $m \in \mathbb{N}$. If we take $m_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $|u_{m_0}| = ||u|| = 1$ (which exists as $u \in S_{c_0}$), we get a contradiction.

The case of the range space is analogous, but the proof is rather more involved.

Proposition 4.4 Let Y be an infinite dimensional Banach space. Then there exists $T \in \mathcal{L}(\ell_1, Y)$ which does not belong to $QNA(\ell_1, Y)$.

Proof We divide the proof into two cases.

Case 1: Assume first that Y does not have the Schur property. Then, it is well-known that there is a sequence $(y_n) \subseteq S_Y$ such that $y_n \stackrel{w}{\longrightarrow} 0$ (see [28, Exercise XII.2], for instance). Choose an increasing sequence (t_n) with $0 < t_n < 1$ for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\lim_n t_n = 1$. Consider an operator $T : \ell_1 \longrightarrow Y$ defined as

$$T(x) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} t_n x(n) y_n$$
 for each $x : \mathbb{N} \longrightarrow \mathbb{K}$ in ℓ_1 .

It is clear that ||T|| = 1. Assume T belongs to $QNA(\ell_1, Y)$, then there exist a sequence $(x_m) \subseteq S_{\ell_1}$ and a vector $u \in S_Y$ such that $\lim_m Tx_m = u$. Choose $u^* \in S_{Y^*}$ so that $|u^*(u)| = 1$. We have that

$$u^*(Tx_m) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} t_n x_m(n) u^*(y_n) \longrightarrow u^*(u) = 1 \quad \text{as } m \longrightarrow \infty.$$
 (4)

As $y_n \xrightarrow{w} 0$, we can choose $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ so large that $|u^*(y_n)| < 1/2$ for all $n > n_0$ and $t_{n_0} \ge 1/2$. It follows that

$$\left| \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} t_n x_m(n) u^*(y_n) \right| < t_{n_0} \sum_{n=1}^{n_0} |x_m(n)| + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n=n_0+1}^{\infty} |x_m(n)| \le t_{n_0} < 1$$

for every $m \in \mathbb{N}$, which contradicts (4). Let us comment that the above argument is inspired in the proof of [49, Remark 3].

Case 2: Now suppose that Y has the Schur property. It follows from Rosenthal's ℓ_1 theorem that Y contains a subspace which is isomorphic to ℓ_1 (see [28, Exercise XI.3] for instance), that is, there exists a monomorphism $Q \colon \ell_1 \longrightarrow Y$, so ker $Q = \{0\}$ and $Q(\ell_1)$ is closed. Write $u_n = Q(e_n)$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$, then there is C > 0 such that $C < \|u_n\| \le \|Q\|$ for



every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Take an increasing sequence (t_n) with $1/2 < t_n < 1$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\lim_n t_n = 1$. Consider the operator $T : \ell_1 \longrightarrow Q(\ell_1) \subseteq Y$ defined by

$$T(x) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} t_n x(n) \frac{u_n}{\|u_n\|}$$
 for each $x : \mathbb{N} \longrightarrow \mathbb{K}$ in ℓ_1 .

It is clear that ||T|| = 1, $\ker T = \ker Q = \{0\}$, and $T(\ell_1) = Q(\ell_1)$. Therefore, T is a monomorphism. If $T \in \text{QNA}(\ell_1, Y)$, then Lemma 2.1 implies that $T \in \text{NA}(\ell_1, Y)$. However, if ||Tx|| = 1 for some $x \in S_{\ell_1}$, then

$$1 = ||Tx|| \le \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |t_n||x(n)| < \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |x(n)| = 1,$$

which is a contradiction. Thus, we conclude that $T \notin QNA(\ell_1, Y)$ as desired.

From Propositions 4.3 and 4.4, we obtain the following characterization of finite-dimensionality in terms of quasi norm attaining operators.

Corollary 4.5 Let Z be a Banach space. Then, the following assertions are equivalent:

- (a) Z is finite-dimensional.
- (b) $QNA(Z, Y) = \mathcal{L}(Z, Y)$ for every Banach space Y.
- (c) QNA(Z, c_0) = $\mathcal{L}(Z, c_0)$.
- (d) QNA(X, Z) = $\mathcal{L}(X, Z)$ for every Banach space X.
- (e) QNA(ℓ_1, Z) = $\mathcal{L}(\ell_1, Z)$.

Proof The fact that (a) implies the rest of assertions follows from Remark 1.4; (b) \Rightarrow (c) and (d) \Rightarrow (e) are immediate. Finally, (c) \Rightarrow (a) and (e) \Rightarrow (a) are consequences of Propositions 4.3 and 4.4, respectively.

Some remarks on the previous result are pertinent. Observe that if $T \in \mathcal{L}(X,Y) \setminus$ QNA(X, Y) has norm one, then the set $K = T(B_X)$ is contained in the open unit ball of Y but $\sup_{y \in K} \|y\| = 1$. This phenomena has a relation with the so-called remotality. A bounded subset E of a Banach space X is said to be remotal from $x \in X$ if there is $e_x \in E$ such that $||x - e_x|| = \sup\{||x - e|| : e \in E\}$, and E is said to be *remotal* if it is remotal from all elements in X (see [17] for background). Notice that up to translating and re-scaling, the existence of a non-remotal subset of a Banach space is equivalent to the existence of a subset E of the open unit ball such that $\sup\{\|e\|: e \in E\} = 1$. The existence of non-remotal closed sets in every infinite-dimensional Banach space is easy to prove (see [17, Remark 3.2]). But it seems that the existence of closed *convex* non-remotal subsets in every infinite-dimensional Banach space was an open problem until 2009–2010, when it was proved independently in two different papers [49, Theorem 7] and [59, Proposition 2.1]. Furthermore, in 2011, a new and easier proof was given in [42]. Observe that Proposition 4.4 gives a new proof of this fact: indeed, if Y is infinite-dimensional, there exists $T \in \mathcal{L}(\ell_1, Y) \setminus \text{QNA}(\ell_1, Y)$, and we may suppose that ||T|| = 1, so $K = \overline{T(B_{\ell_1})}$ is contained in the open unit ball of Y and $\sup\{\|y\|: y \in K\} = 1$. Moreover, the non-remotal set K given by this result is not only closed and convex but closed and absolutely convex (i.e. convex and equilibrated). Having a look at the previous proofs, it is not difficult to adapt the ones in [49] and [59] to get an absolutely convex set in the real case, while the one in [42] does not give absolute convexity even in the real case. For the complex case, the proof of [59] is not adaptable at all, while the one of [49] seems to be. But the proof of Proposition 4.4 is simpler than the one of [49]. In any case, as a by-product of our study of quasi norm attaining operators, we get the following corollary.



133 Page 18 of 32 G. Choi et al.

Corollary 4.6 Let Y be a (real or complex) infinite-dimensional Banach space. Then there exists a closed, absolutely convex subset of B_Y which is not remotal from 0.

5 Further results and examples

Our aim in this section is to provide a more extensive study of two results previously stated: first, the relation between quasi norm attainment and (classical) norm attainment of the adjoint operator (discussing extensions of Proposition 3.3) and, second, possible extensions of Lemma 2.1 on conditions assuring that quasi norm attainment implies (classical) norm attainment.

We begin with the relation among the adjoint operators. Our first result is a characterization of quasi norm attaining weakly compact operators in terms of the adjoint and biadjoint. In particular, it shows that Proposition 3.3 is a characterization in this case. Before stating the result, notice from Remark 1.4(b) that the inclusion $\mathcal{K}(X,Y) \subseteq \text{QNA}(X,Y)$ holds for all Banach spaces X and Y while this does not remain true when we replace $\mathcal{K}(X,Y)$ by $\mathcal{W}(X,Y)$; just recall that for every reflexive space X, Proposition 4.3 provides an example of $T \in \mathcal{W}(X,c_0) = \mathcal{L}(X,c_0)$ which does not belong to $\text{QNA}(X,c_0)$.

Proposition 5.1 Let X and Y be Banach spaces, and $T \in W(X, Y)$. Then the following are equivalent.

- (a) $T \in \text{QNA}(X, Y)$.
- (b) $T^* \in NA(Y^*, X^*)$.
- (c) $T^{**} \in NA(X^{**}, Y)$.

Proof (a) \Rightarrow (b) follows from Proposition 3.3 and (b) \Rightarrow (c) is immediate, so it suffices to prove (c) \Rightarrow (a). Pick $x_0^{***} \in S_{X^{***}}$ such that $||T^{***}(x_0^{***})|| = ||T||$ and consider a net $(x_\lambda) \subseteq B_X$ such that $J_X(x_\lambda) \xrightarrow{w^*} x_0^{***}$, where $J_X : X \longrightarrow X^{***}$ denotes the natural isometric inclusion map. Thus, we have that

$$Tx_{\lambda} = T^{**}(J_X(x_{\lambda})) \xrightarrow{w^*} T^{**}(x_0^{**}).$$

As T is weakly compact, $T^{**}(x_0^{**})$ belongs to Y so, actually, we have that

$$Tx_{\lambda} = T^{**}(J_X(x_{\lambda})) \xrightarrow{w} T^{**}(x_0^{**}) \in Y$$

and then, $T^{**}(x_0^{**}) \in \overline{T(B_X)}$. Therefore, $\overline{T(B_X)} \cap ||T|| S_Y \neq \emptyset$, that is, $T \in \text{QNA}(X, Y)$. \square

This proposition gives an alternative (and probably simpler) proof of the fact presented in Corollary 3.6 that weakly compact operators can be always approximated by weakly compact quasi norm attaining operators.

Corollary 5.2 *Let X and Y be Banach spaces. Then,*

$$\overline{\text{ONA}(X,Y) \cap \mathcal{W}(X,Y)} = \mathcal{W}(X,Y).$$

Proof By observing the proof of [43, Theorem 1], we get that every $S \in \mathcal{W}(X, Y)$ can be approximated by a sequence (S_n) of weakly compact operators such that $S_n^{**} \in \operatorname{NA}(X^{**}, Y)$. By Proposition 5.1, each S_n belongs to $\operatorname{QNA}(X, Y)$ hence S belongs to $\operatorname{QNA}(X, Y) \cap \mathcal{W}(X, Y)$.



A sight to Proposition 5.1 may lead us to think that Proposition 3.3 is an equivalence, that is, that for all Banach spaces X, Y, one has that $T \in \text{QNA}(X, Y)$ if (and only if) $T^* \in \text{NA}(Y^*, X^*)$. However, this is not true in general. Indeed, it is known that the set $\{T \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y) : T^* \in \text{NA}(Y^*, X^*)\}$ is dense in $\mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ for all Banach spaces X and Y [61]; on the other hand, there exist (many) Banach spaces X and Y for which QNA(X, Y) is not dense in $\mathcal{L}(X, Y)$, see Examples 2.3, 2.4, or Proposition 2.5. Our next result is an explicit example of this phenomenon.

Example 5.3 Recall the Day's norm $\|\cdot\|$ on c_0 (see [26, Definition II.7.2]) defined as

$$|||x||| = \sup_{n} \left\{ \left(\sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{|x_{\gamma_k}|^2}{4^k} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\},$$

where (x_{γ_n}) is a decreasing rearrangement of (x_n) with respect to the modulus. If we let $Y = (c_0, \|\|\cdot\|\|)$, which is a strictly convex space, it follows from [46, Lemma 2] and Lemma 2.1 that the formal identity map $\mathrm{Id} \in \mathcal{L}(c_0, Y)$ does not belong to $\mathrm{QNA}(c_0, Y)$. But $\mathrm{Id}^* \in \mathcal{L}(Y^*, \ell_1)$ attains its norm at $z^* = \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \cdot \frac{1}{2^n}\right) \in S_{Y^*}$.

Indeed, from the construction of Y, one can derive with a few calculations that $\|Id\| = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}$. Observe first that

$$|||z^*|||_{Y^*} \ge |z^*(\sqrt{3}, \dots, \sqrt{3}, 0, 0, \dots)| \ge \sum_{j=1}^N \frac{1}{2^j}$$
 for each $N \in \mathbb{N}$

as $(\sqrt{3}, \ldots, \sqrt{3}, 0, 0, \ldots) \in B_Y$. This implies that $||z^*|| \ge 1$.

N many terms

On the other hand, we prove that $||z^*||_{\operatorname{span}\{e_1,\ldots,e_N\}} \le 1$ for every $N \in \mathbb{N}$ by an induction argument. It is obvious when N=1. For fixed $N \ge 2$, suppose that $||z^*||_{\operatorname{span}\{e_1,\ldots,e_n\}} \le 1$ for every $1 \le n \le N-1$. Take $y=(y_1,\ldots,y_N,0,0,\ldots) \in \operatorname{span}\{e_1,\ldots,e_N\}$ with $||y|| \le 1$ (so, $||y||_{\infty} \le 2$) and write $\hat{y}=(\hat{y}_1,\ldots,\hat{y}_N,0,0,\ldots)$ for the decreasing rearrangement of y. It follows that

$$|z^*(y)| = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \left| \sum_{j=1}^N \frac{y_j}{2^j} \right| \le \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \sum_{j=1}^N \frac{\hat{y}_j}{2^j} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \left(\frac{\hat{y}_1}{2} + \sum_{j=2}^N \frac{\hat{y}_j}{2^j} \right). \tag{5}$$

If $\hat{y}_1 \leq \sqrt{3}$, then we have from (5) that $|z^*(y)| \leq 1$. Suppose that $\sqrt{3} < \hat{y}_1 \leq 2$. Note that $(\hat{y}_2, \dots, \hat{y}_N, 0, 0, \dots) \in \text{span}\{e_1, \dots, e_{N-1}\}$ and that

$$\|(\hat{y}_2,\ldots,\hat{y}_N,0,0,\ldots)\|^2 = \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \frac{\hat{y}_{j+1}^2}{4^j} = 4\sum_{j=2}^N \frac{\hat{y}_j^2}{4^j}.$$

Thus,

$$\|\|y\|\|^2 = \frac{\hat{y}_1^2}{4} + \sum_{i=2}^N \frac{\hat{y}_j^2}{4^i} = \frac{\hat{y}_1^2}{4} + \frac{1}{4} \|(\hat{y}_2, \dots, \hat{y}_N, 0, 0, \dots)\|\|^2 \le 1$$



133 Page 20 of 32 G. Choi et al.

which implies that $\|(\hat{y}_2, \dots, \hat{y}_N, 0, 0, \dots)\| \le \sqrt{4 - \hat{y}_1^2}$. By induction hypothesis, we have that

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \frac{\hat{y}_{j+1}}{2^j} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \sum_{j=2}^{N} \frac{\hat{y}_j}{2^{j-1}} \le \sqrt{4 - \hat{y}_1^2}.$$

Combining this with (5), we obtain that

$$|z^*(y)| \le \frac{\hat{y}_1}{2\sqrt{3}} + \sqrt{1 - \frac{\hat{y}_1^2}{4}}.$$
 (6)

Consider the function $g(t) = \frac{t}{2\sqrt{3}} + \sqrt{1 - \frac{t^2}{4}}$ for $t \in [0, 2]$. As $g(t) \le 1$ for $\sqrt{3} \le t \le 2$, we obtain from (6) that $|z^*(y)| \le 1$. This finishes the induction process showing that $|||z^*|||_{\text{span}\{e_1,...,e_N\}} \le 1$ for every $N \in \mathbb{N}$, and we can deduce that $|||z^*||| = 1$. Finally, $||\text{Id}^*(z^*)|| = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} = ||\text{Id}^*||$ gives the desired result.

We now want to characterize quasi norm attaining operators in terms of the norm attainment of the adjoint operator.

Proposition 5.4 Let X, Y be Banach spaces and let $T \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$. Then, the following are equivalent:

- (a) $T \in \text{QNA}(X, Y)$,
- (b) T^* attains its norm at some $y^* \in S_{Y^*}$ for which $|y^*|$ attains its supremum on $\overline{T(B_X)}$.

Proof (a) \Rightarrow (b). This is contained in Proposition 3.3. Just observe in the proof there that the supremum of $|y^*|$ on $\overline{T(B_X)}$ is ||T|| and it is attained at y_0 .

(b) \Rightarrow (a). By hypothesis, there are $y^* \in S_{Y^*}$ and $y_0 \in \overline{T(B_X)}$ such that $|y^*(y_0)| = \sup \{|y^*(y)| : y \in \overline{T(B_X)}\}$. Observe that, as $||T^*(y^*)|| = ||T||$, it follows that the supremum of $|y^*|$ on $\overline{T(B_X)}$ equals ||T||, so we get that $||y_0|| = ||T||$ and then $\overline{T(B_X)} \cap ||T||S_Y \neq \emptyset$, that is, $T \in \text{QNA}(X, Y)$.

Observe that the condition in Proposition 5.4(b) is weaker than the one given in Remark 3.4.(e).

To finish the study of the norm attainment of the adjoint operator, we include the next straightforward result which shows that the quasi norm attainment and the norm attainment are equivalent for adjoint operators. It follows immediately from Remark 1.5 and the weak-*compactness of every dual ball.

Proposition 5.5 Let X and Y be Banach spaces and $T \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$. $T^* \in \text{QNA}(Y^*, X^*)$ if and only if $T^* \in \text{NA}(Y^*, X^*)$.

Next, we would like to deal with possible extensions of Lemma 2.1, looking for sufficient conditions assuring that quasi norm attaining operators are actually norm attaining. We start with the following useful characterization of quasi norm attaining operators.

Lemma 5.6 Let X and Y be Banach spaces and $T \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ be given. Consider the following commutative diagram:

$$X \xrightarrow{T} Y$$

$$q \downarrow \qquad \qquad \widetilde{T}$$

$$X/\ker T$$



where $q: X \longrightarrow X/\ker T$ is the canonical quotient map and $\widetilde{T}: X/\ker T \longrightarrow Y$ is the induced (injective) operator. Then, the following are equivalent.

- (a) $T \in \text{QNA}(X, Y)$.
- (b) $\widetilde{T} \in \text{QNA}(X/\ker T, Y)$.

If T(X) is closed, then the following statement is also equivalent to the others:

(c) $\widetilde{T} \in NA(X/\ker T, Y)$.

Proof (a) \Rightarrow (b). Suppose that $T \in \text{QNA}(X,Y)$. Let $(x_n) \subseteq S_X$ and $u \in ||T||S_Y$ be such that $Tx_n \longrightarrow u$. Note that $(q(x_n)) \subseteq B_{X/\ker T}$ and $\widetilde{T}(q(x_n)) \longrightarrow u$. As $||\widetilde{T}|| = ||T||$, this implies that $\widetilde{T} \in \text{QNA}(X/\ker T,Y)$. Conversely, suppose that $\widetilde{T} \in \text{QNA}(X/\ker T,Y)$. Let $(\widetilde{x}_n) \subseteq S_{X/\ker T}$ and $u \in ||\widetilde{T}||S_Y$ be such that $\widetilde{T}\widetilde{x}_n \longrightarrow u$. As $q(\text{Int}(B_X)) = \text{Int}(B_{X/\ker T})$ (where Int(A) is the norm interior of the set A), there exists a sequence $(x_n) \subseteq \text{Int}(B_X)$ so that $q(x_n) = \frac{n}{n+1}\widetilde{x}_n$ for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Observe that

$$Tx_n = \widetilde{T}(q(x_n)) = \left(\frac{n}{n+1}\right)\widetilde{T}\widetilde{x}_n \longrightarrow u,$$

hence $T \in \text{QNA}(X, Y)$.

In order to prove the last equivalence, just observe that if T(X) is closed, then \widetilde{T} is a monomorphism, so Lemma 2.1 gives the equivalence between $\widetilde{T} \in \text{QNA}(X/\ker T, T(X))$ and $\widetilde{T} \in \text{NA}(X/\ker T, T(X))$.

Our next aim is to present conditions allowing us to get that norm attainment and quasi norm attainment are equivalent. In the first result, we start with an operator $T \in \mathcal{L}(X,Y)$ with closed range such that $T \in \text{NA}(X,Y)$ and get that $T \in \text{NA}(X,Y)$ from the fact that $\widetilde{T} \in \text{NA}(X/\ker T,Y)$ using proximinality of the kernel of the operator. Recall that a (closed) subspace Y of a Banach space X is said to be *proximinal* if for every $X \in X$ the set

$$P_Y(x) := \{ y \in Y : ||x - y|| = \text{dist}(x, Y) \}$$

is nonempty (we refer to [56] for background). An easy observation is that a hyperplane is proximinal if and only if it is the kernel of a norm attaining operator (see [56, Theorem 2.1]). It is well known (and easy to prove) that Y is proximinal if and only if $q(B_X) = B_{X/Y}$ where q is the quotient map from X onto X/Y [56, Theorem 2.2]. Another basic result on proximinality is that reflexive subspaces are proximinal in every superspace [56, Corollary 2.1].

We are now able to present our first result, which is an extension of Lemma 2.1.

Proposition 5.7 Let X and Y be Banach spaces. If $T \in QNA(X, Y)$ satisfies that T(X) is closed and ker T is proximinal, then $T \in NA(X, Y)$.

Proof Since T(X) is closed, $\widetilde{T} \in \operatorname{NA}(X/\ker T, Y)$ by Lemma 5.6. Let $\widetilde{x} \in B_{X/\ker T}$ be a point so that $\|\widetilde{T}\widetilde{x}\| = \|\widetilde{T}\|$. Now, by proximinality, there exists $x \in B_X$ such that $q(x) = \widetilde{x}$. As $Tx = \widetilde{T}(q(x)) = \widetilde{T}(\widetilde{x})$, we get $\|Tx\| = \|\widetilde{T}\widetilde{x}\| = \|\widetilde{T}\| = \|T\|$.

We present some consequences of the above result. The first one follows from the fact that reflexive subspaces are proximinal in every superspace [56, Corollary 2.1].

Corollary 5.8 Let X, Y be Banach spaces and let $T \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$. If $T \in \text{QNA}(X, Y)$, T(X) is closed and $\ker T$ is reflexive, then $T \in \text{NA}(X, Y)$.

We next give some examples showing that the conditions of Proposition 5.7 are all necessary. The first example shows that proximinality cannot be dropped.



133 Page 22 of 32 G. Choi et al.

Example 5.9 Let X be a non-reflexive Banach space. Then every $f \in \mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{K})$ belongs to QNA(X, \mathbb{K}) by Remark 1.4(b) and, clearly, f(X) is closed. Nevertheless, there are elements in $\mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{K}) \setminus \text{NA}(X, \mathbb{K})$ by James' theorem (see [29, Corollary 3.131] for instance).

The second example, more interesting, shows that being injective is not enough for a quasi norm attaining operator to be norm attaining. It also shows that closedness of the range of the operator is needed in both Proposition 5.7 and Corollary 5.8. We need to present the so-called Gowers' space G introduced in [33, proof of Theorem in Appendix] (see also [8, Example 7] or [7] for our notation, some properties, and the obvious extension to the complex case of Gowers' results). For a sequence x of scalars and $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we write

$$\Phi_n(x) = \frac{1}{H_n} \sup \left\{ \sum_{j \in J} |x(j)| \colon J \subset \mathbb{N}, \ |J| = n \right\}$$

where |J| is the cardinality of the set J and $H_n = \sum_{k=1}^n k^{-1}$. Gowers' space G is the Banach space of those sequences x satisfying that

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} \Phi_n(x) = 0$$

equipped with the norm given by

$$||x|| = \sup \{\Phi_n(x) : n \in \mathbb{N}\}$$
 for $x \in G$.

Example 5.10 Let G be Gowers' space and given $1 , let <math>T : G \longrightarrow \ell_p$ be the formal identity map. Then, $T \in \text{QNA}(G, \ell_p)$, ker $T = \{0\}$, but $T \notin \overline{\text{NA}(G, \ell_p)}$ and $\notin \mathcal{K}(G, \ell_p)$.

Proof From the proof of [33, Theorem in Appendix], we can see that $||T|| = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} i^{-p}\right)^{1/p}$ and that $T \notin \overline{\mathrm{NA}(G, \ell_p)} \cup \mathcal{K}(G, \ell_p)$. Consider

$$x_n = (1, \frac{1}{2}, \dots, \frac{1}{n}, 0, 0, \dots) \in S_G$$

for $n \in \mathbb{N}$. From the facts that $||x_n||_G = 1$, $||Tx_n||_p = \left(\sum_{i=1}^n i^{-p}\right)^{1/p}$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and that (Tx_n) converges to $\left(1, \frac{1}{2}, \dots, \frac{1}{n}, \frac{1}{n+1}, \dots\right) \in ||T|| S_{\ell_p}$, we deduce that $T \in \text{QNA}(G, \ell_p)$.

In the next proposition, we give a connection between the set QNA(X, Y) and the lineability of the set $NA(X, \mathbb{K})$. It is an extension of [40, Proposition 2.5] where the result was proved for compact operators and, actually, its proof is based on the proof of that result.

Proposition 5.11 Let X and Y be Banach spaces and let $T \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$. If $T \in \text{QNA}(X, Y)$ and $(\ker T)^{\perp} \subseteq \text{NA}(X, \mathbb{K})$, then $T \in \text{NA}(X, Y)$.

Proof Consider $\widetilde{T}: X/\ker T \longrightarrow Y$ as in Lemma 5.6 and use this result to get that $\widetilde{T} \in \text{QNA}(X/\ker T, Y)$. By Proposition 3.3 or Proposition 5.4, we get $\widetilde{T}^* \in \text{NA}(Y^*, (X/\ker T)^*)$, so there is $y^* \in S_{Y^*}$ such that

$$\|\widetilde{T}^*(y^*)\| = \|\widetilde{T}\| = \|T\|.$$

Now, the functional $x^* = T^*(y^*) = [q^*\widetilde{T}^*](y^*) \in X^*$ vanishes on ker T, so it belongs to $(\ker T)^{\perp} \subset \operatorname{NA}(X, \mathbb{K})$. This implies that there is $x \in S_X$ such that

$$|x^*(x)| = ||x^*|| = ||[q^*\widetilde{T}^*](y^*)|| = ||q^*(\widetilde{T}^*y^*)|| = ||\widetilde{T}^*(y^*)|| = ||T||,$$

where we have used the immediate fact that q^* is an isometric embedding as q is a quotient map. Therefore, $||T|| = |[T^*y^*](x)| = |y^*(Tx)|$ and so ||Tx|| = ||T||, as desired.



Observe that for a reflexive space X, Proposition 5.11 reproves the result in Proposition 4.1 that QNA(X, Y) = NA(X, Y) for every Banach space Y.

6 Stabilities on quasi norm attaining operators

The aim of this section is to present some results which allow to transfer the denseness of the set of quasi norm attaining operators from some pairs to other pairs. The first result is that the denseness is preserved by some kinds of absolute summands of the domain space and to every kind of absolute summands of the range space. Recall that an *absolute sum* of Banach spaces X and Y is the product space $X \times Y$ endowed with the norm $\|(x,y)\|_a := |(\|x\|, \|y\|)|_a$, where $\|\cdot\|_a$ is an *absolute norm* (i.e. a norm in \mathbb{R}^2 satisfying that $|(1,0)|_a = |(0,1)|_a = 1$, and $|(x,y)|_a = |(|x|, |y|)|_a$ for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}$). A closed subspace X_1 of a Banach space X is said to be an *absolute summand* if $X = X_1 \oplus_a X_2$ for some absolute sum \oplus_a and some closed subspace X_2 of X. An absolute norm $|\cdot|_a$ is said to be of $type\ 1$ if (1,0) is a vertex of $B_{\mathbb{R}^2,|\cdot|_a)}$ or, equivalently, if there is K > 0 such that $|x| + K|y| \le |(x,y)|_a$ for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}$ (see [23, Lemma 1.4]). We refer to [23] for the use of absolute sums related to norm attainment and to the reference given there for general background on absolute sums. Classical examples of absolute sums are the ℓ_p -sums for $1 \le p \le \infty$. In the case of p = 1, \oplus_1 summands are usually known as L-summands and it is clear that they are of type 1.

Proposition 6.1 Let X and Y be Banach spaces such that QNA(X, Y) is dense in $\mathcal{L}(X, Y)$.

- (a) If X_1 is an absolute summand of X of type 1, then QNA(X_1, Y) is dense in $\mathcal{L}(X_1, Y)$.
- (b) In particular, if X_1 is an L-summand of X, then QNA(X_1 , Y) is dense in $\mathcal{L}(X_1, Y)$.
- (c) If Y_1 is an absolute summand of Y, then QNA (X, Y_1) is dense in $\mathcal{L}(X, Y_1)$.

The proofs of these results are adaptation of the corresponding ones given in [23] for norm attaining operators.

Proof (a) Let $T \in \mathcal{L}(X_1, Y)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. Write $X = X_1 \oplus_{\alpha} X_2$ and define $\widetilde{T} \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ as $\widetilde{T}(x_1, x_2) := Tx_1$ for every $(x_1, x_2) \in X$. Then there exists $\widetilde{S} \in \text{QNA}(X, Y)$ such that $\|\widetilde{S}\| = \|\widetilde{T}\|$ and $\|\widetilde{S} - \widetilde{T}\| < \varepsilon$. Choose a sequence $(x_n) = (x_n^{(1)}, x_n^{(2)}) \subseteq S_X$ satisfying $\widetilde{S}x_n \longrightarrow u$ for some $u \in Y$ with $\|u\| = \|\widetilde{S}\|$. Define $S \in \mathcal{L}(X_1, Y)$ as $S(x_1) := \widetilde{S}(x_1, 0)$ for every $x_1 \in X_1$, then $\|S\| < \|\widetilde{S}\|$ and

$$||Sx_1 - Tx_1|| = ||\widetilde{S}(x_1, 0) - \widetilde{T}(x_1, 0)|| \le ||\widetilde{S} - \widetilde{T}|| < \varepsilon$$

for all $x_1 \in B_{X_1}$. Thus $||S - T|| < \varepsilon$. Moreover,

$$\|\widetilde{S}(0,x_2)\| = \|\widetilde{S}(0,x_2) - \widetilde{T}(0,x_2)\| \le \|\widetilde{S} - \widetilde{T}\| < \varepsilon$$

for all $x_2 \in B_{X_2}$. We claim that $S \in \text{QNA}(X_1, Y)$. Indeed, As \oplus_a is of type 1, there is K > 0 such that $\|x_1\| + K\|x_2\| \le \|(x_1, x_2)\|_a$ for every $(x_1, x_2) \in X$. Passing to a subsequence, we may assume that $\|x_n^{(1)}\| \longrightarrow \lambda_1$ and $\|x_n^{(2)}\| \longrightarrow \lambda_2$. Then we have that $\lambda_1 + K\lambda_2 \le 1$. If $\lambda_2 > 0$, passing to a subsequence again, we may assume that $\|x_n^{(2)}\| > 0$ for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Now,

$$\begin{split} \|u\| &= \lim_n \|\widetilde{S}(x_n^{(1)}, x_n^{(2)})\| \leq \lim_n \|\widetilde{S}(x_n^{(1)}, 0)\| + \|x_n^{(2)}\| \left\|\widetilde{S}\left(0, \frac{x_n^{(2)}}{\|x_n^{(2)}\|}\right)\right\| \\ &\leq \lim_n (\|u\| \|x_n^{(1)}\| + \|u\| \|x_n^{(2)}\| \, \varepsilon). \end{split}$$



133 Page 24 of 32 G. Choi et al.

If we choose $\varepsilon > 0$ to be smaller than K > 0, we have

$$1 < \lambda_1 + \varepsilon \lambda_2 < \lambda_1 + K \lambda_2 < 1,$$

which is a contradiction. This implies that $\lambda_2 = 0$ and

$$||Sx_n^{(1)} - u|| \le ||\widetilde{S}(x_n^{(1)}, 0) - \widetilde{S}(x_n^{(1)}, x_n^{(2)})|| + ||\widetilde{S}(x_n^{(1)}, x_n^{(2)}) - u||$$

$$\le ||\widetilde{S}|||x_n^{(2)}|| + ||\widetilde{S}x_n - u|| \longrightarrow 0.$$

This shows that $S \in QNA(X_1, Y)$, finishing the proof of (a).

- (b) is a particular case of (a) as L-summands are of type 1.
- (c) Put $Y = Y_1 \oplus_a Y_2$, and let $\varepsilon > 0$ and $T \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y_1)$ be given. Define $\widetilde{T} \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ by $\widetilde{T}(x) := (Tx, 0)$ for every $x \in X$. Then $\|\widetilde{T}\| = \|T\|$ and there exists $\widetilde{S} \in \text{QNA}(X, Y)$ such that $\|\widetilde{S}\| = \|\widetilde{T}\|$ and $\|\widetilde{S} \widetilde{T}\| < \varepsilon$. If we write $\widetilde{S} = (\widetilde{S}_1, \widetilde{S}_2)$ where $\widetilde{S}_j \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y_j)$ for j = 1, 2, then

$$\|(\widetilde{S}_1x - Tx, \widetilde{S}_2x)\|_{\infty} < \|\widetilde{S}x - \widetilde{T}x\|_a < \|\widetilde{S} - \widetilde{T}\| < \varepsilon$$

for all $x \in B_X$. It follows that $\|\widetilde{S}_1 - T\| < \varepsilon$ and $\|\widetilde{S}_2\| < \varepsilon$. Choose a sequence $(x_n) \subseteq S_X$ such that

$$\widetilde{S}x_n \longrightarrow u = (u_1, u_2) \in Y \text{ with } \|u\|_a = \|\widetilde{S}\|.$$

This implies that $\widetilde{S}_1 x_n \longrightarrow u_1$ and $\widetilde{S}_2 x_n \longrightarrow u_2$. Notice from $||u_2|| < \varepsilon$ that $||u_1|| > ||T|| - \varepsilon$. Let $y^* = (y_1^*, y_2^*) \in Y^*$ such that

$$\|y^*\|_{a^*} = 1$$
 and $y^*(u) = y_1^*(u_1) + y_2^*(u_2) = \|u\|_a$.

It is easy to deduce that $y_1^*(u_1) = ||y_1^*|| ||u_1||$ and $y_2^*(u_2) = ||y_2^*|| ||u_2||$. Define $S \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y_1)$ by

$$S(x) := \|y_1^*\|\widetilde{S}_1 x + y_2^*(\widetilde{S}_2 x) \frac{u_1}{\|u_1\|} \quad \text{for } x \in X.$$

Then, we have that

$$||Sx|| \le ||y_1^*|| ||\widetilde{S}_1 x|| + ||y_2^*|| ||\widetilde{S}_2 x|| \le ||\widetilde{S}x||_a ||y^*||_{a^*} = ||\widetilde{S}x||;$$

hence $||S|| \le ||\widetilde{S}||$. Note that

$$Sx_n = \|y_1^*\|\widetilde{S}_1x_n + y_2^*(\widetilde{S}_2x_n)\frac{u_1}{\|u_1\|} \longrightarrow \|y_1^*\|u_1 + y_2^*(u_2)\frac{u_1}{\|u_1\|} = \frac{\|u\|_a}{\|u_1\|}u_1.$$

Thus, $S \in \text{QNA}(X, Y_1)$. To see that S is close enough to T, observe first that $||y_1^*|| ||u||_a \ge ||y_1^*|| ||u_1|| > ||u||_a - \varepsilon$. Hence for every $x \in B_X$,

$$\begin{split} \|Sx - Tx\| &\leq \|\|y_1^*\|\widetilde{S}_1x - Tx\| + \|y_2^*(\widetilde{S}_2x)\| \\ &< (1 - \|y_1^*\|)\|\widetilde{S}\| + \|\widetilde{S}_1 - T\| + \varepsilon \\ &\leq \frac{\varepsilon}{\|u\|_{\alpha}} \|\widetilde{S}\| + 2\varepsilon = 3\varepsilon. \end{split}$$

So,
$$||S-T|| \leq 3\varepsilon$$
.

A similar result to the previous one is the following one which borrows ideas from [13, Proposition 2.8].

Proposition 6.2 Let X and Y be Banach spaces and K be a compact Hausdorff space. If QNA(X, C(K, Y)) is dense in $\mathcal{L}(X, C(K, Y))$, then QNA(X, Y) is dense in $\mathcal{L}(X, Y)$.



Proof Let $\varepsilon > 0$ and $T \in \mathcal{L}(X,Y)$ be given. Define $\widetilde{T} \in \mathcal{L}(X,C(K,Y))$ as $(\widetilde{T}x)(t) := Tx$ for every $x \in X$ and $t \in K$. It is clear that $\|\widetilde{T}\| = \|T\|$. Let $\widetilde{S} \in \text{QNA}(X,C(K,Y))$ be such that $\|\widetilde{S}\| = \|\widetilde{T}\|$ and $\|\widetilde{S} - \widetilde{T}\| < \varepsilon$. Let $(x_n) \subseteq S_X$ be a sequence such that $\widetilde{S}x_n \longrightarrow f \in C(K,Y)$ with $\|\widetilde{S}\| = \|f\|$. Let $t_0 \in K$ so that $\|f(t_0)\| = \|f\|$, then $[\widetilde{S}x_n](t_0) \longrightarrow f(t_0) \in \|f\|S_Y$. Define $S \in \mathcal{L}(X,Y)$ as $S(x) := [\widetilde{S}x](t_0)$ for every $x \in X$, then $\|S\| \le \|\widetilde{S}\|$ and $Sx_n = [\widetilde{S}x_n](t_0) \longrightarrow f(t_0)$. It follows that $S \in \text{QNA}(X,Y)$. Note that

$$\|Sx - Tx\| = \|\widetilde{S}x](t_0) - \widetilde{T}x](t_0)\| \le \|\widetilde{S}x - \widetilde{T}x\| < \varepsilon$$

for every $x \in B_X$; hence $||S - T|| < \varepsilon$.

The third result of the section is that the denseness is preserved under ℓ_1 -sums of the domain space. Given a family $\{Z_i : i \in I\}$ of Banach spaces, we denote by $\left[\bigoplus_{i \in I} Z_i\right]_{\ell_1}$ the ℓ_1 -sum of the family.

Corollary 6.3 Let $\{X_i : i \in I\}$ be a family of Banach spaces, let X be the ℓ_1 -sum of $\{X_i\}$, and Y be a Banach space. Then, QNA(X, Y) is dense in $\mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ if and only if QNA (X_i, Y) is dense in $\mathcal{L}(X_i, Y)$ for every $i \in I$.

The proof of the "if part" is based on the corresponding one given in [53] for norm attaining operators.

Proof As each X_i is an L-summand of X, it follows from Proposition 6.1(b) that they inherit the property from X. Conversely, let $\varepsilon > 0$ and $T \in \mathcal{L}(X,Y)$ with $\|T\| = 1$ be given. As $\|T\| = \sup\{\|TE_i\| : i \in I\}$ where E_i is the natural isometric inclusion from X_i into X, we may choose $i_0 \in I$ such that $\|TE_{i_0}\| > 1 - \varepsilon$. Choose $S_{i_0} \in \operatorname{QNA}(X_{i_0},Y)$ such that $\|S_{i_0}\| = 1$ and $\|S_{i_0} - TE_{i_0}\| < \varepsilon$. Let $(x_n) \subseteq S_{X_{i_0}}$ be a sequence such that $S_{i_0}x_n \longrightarrow u$ for some $u \in Y$ with $\|u\| = 1$. Consider the operator $S \in \mathcal{L}(X,Y)$ so that $SE_{i_0} = S_{i_0}$ and $SE_j = TE_j$ for every $j \neq i_0$. Then $\|S\| \le 1$ and $\|S - T\| = \|S_{i_0} - TE_{i_0}\| < \varepsilon$. Notice that $S(E_{i_0}x_n) = S_{i_0}x_n \longrightarrow u$, thus $S \in \operatorname{QNA}(X,Y)$.

In the aforementioned paper [53] it is shown an analogous result to the above one for the denseness of norm attaining operator for c_0 - or ℓ_∞ -sums of range spaces. We do not know whether such result has a version for quasi norm attainment. Actually, we do not know whether the denseness of QNA(X, Y_1) and QNA(X, Y_2) implies the denseness of QNA(X, $Y_1 \oplus_\infty Y_2$), see Problem 7.3 below.

7 Remarks and open problems

Our final aim in the paper is to present some open problems and remarks on quasi norm attaining operators.

7.1 Extensions of results on norm attaining operators

We would like to study whether some results valid for norm attaining operators remain true for quasi norm attaining operators. First, it would be of interest whether some more negative results on the denseness of norm attaining operators actually provide negative examples on the denseness of quasi norm attaining operators or not. For instance, the following questions can be of interest.



133 Page 26 of 32 G. Choi et al.

Problem 7.1 Is QNA($L_1[0, 1], C[0, 1]$) dense in $\mathcal{L}(L_1[0, 1], C[0, 1])$?

Observe that it is shown in [55] that NA($L_1[0, 1]$, C[0, 1]) is not dense in $\mathcal{L}(L_1[0, 1], C[0, 1])$.

Problem 7.2 Let Y be a strictly convex Banach space. Is it true that Y has the RNP if (and only if) QNA($L_1[0, 1], Y$) is dense in $\mathcal{L}(L_1[0, 1], Y)$?

It is shown in [58] that the analogous result for norm attaining operators is true.

On the other hand, a couple of questions which have been stated along the paper can be also included in this subsection as they are related to results for the denseness of norm attaining operators.

Problem 7.3 Let X, Y_1, Y_2 be Banach spaces such that QNA (X, Y_j) is dense in $\mathcal{L}(X, Y_j)$ for j = 1, 2. Is QNA $(X, Y_1 \oplus_{\infty} Y_2)$ dense in $\mathcal{L}(X, Y_1 \oplus_{\infty} Y_2)$?

The positive answer to this question for norm attaining operators was given in [53].

Let us comment that a positive answer to Problem 7.3 would give an example of a Banach space Z such that QNA(Z, Z) is dense in $\mathcal{L}(Z,Z)$ while NA(Z, Z) is not dense (indeed, $Z = G \oplus_{\infty} \ell_2$ where G is Gowers' space describe in Example 5.10 would work). We do not know whether such an example exists.

Problem 7.4 Does there exist a Banach space Z such that QNA(Z, Z) is dense in $\mathcal{L}(Z, Z)$ while NA(Z, Z) is not?

7.2 Lindenstrauss properties

It would be of interest to study the version for quasi norm attainment of Lindenstrauss properties A and B. Let us say that a Banach space X has property quasi A if $\overline{\text{QNA}(X,Z)} = \mathcal{L}(X,Z)$ for every Banach space Z; a Banach space Y has property quasi B if $\overline{\text{QNA}(W,Y)} = \mathcal{L}(W,Y)$ for every Banach space W.

A list of some known results that we may write down on these properties, using both previously known results and results from this paper, is the following.

- (a) X has property quasi A in every equivalent norm if and only if X has the RNP;
- (b) Separable Banach spaces (actually, spaces admitting a long biorthogonal system) can be equivalently renormed to have property A, and so property quasi A.
- (c) Y has property quasi B in every equivalent norm if and only if Y has the RNP;
- (d) Every Banach space can be equivalently renormed to have property B, and so property quasi B.

Assertion (a) and (c) follows from our Corollary 3.8; (b) and (d) appear in [32] and in [52], respectively.

Therefore, the following question seems to be open.

Problem 7.5 Is it possible for every Banach space to be equivalently renormed to have property quasi A?

The study of Lindenstrauss properties A and B provided many interesting results on the geometry of the involved Banach spaces, and the same can be true for the new analogous properties. For instance, the following result is an extension of a result by Lindenstrauss [43]



to the case of quasi norm attaining operators. Recall that a Banach space is said to be *locally uniformly rotund* (*LUR* in short) if for all $x, x_n \in B_X$ satisfying $\lim_n \|x_n + x\| = 2$ we have $\lim_n \|x_n - x\| = 0$. Separable Banach spaces and reflexive ones admit LUR norms. We refer the reader to [29, Chapter 7] for background.

Proposition 7.6 *Let X be a Banach space with property quasi A.*

- (a) If X is isomorphic to a strictly convex space, then B_X is the closed convex hull of its exposed points.
- (b) If X is isomorphic to a locally uniformly rotund space, then B_X is the closed convex hull of its strongly exposed points.

The proofs of (a) and (b) are very similar and are based on the corresponding proofs given in [43, Theorem 2], so we only leave here the idea of the proof of (b). Indeed, it is shown in the proof of [43, Theorem 2] that for a Banach space X which is isomorphic to a LUR space, if B_X is not the closed convex hull of its strongly exposed points, then there exist a Banach space Y and a monomorphism $T: X \longrightarrow Y$ such that $T \notin \overline{NA(X, Y)}$. Combining this result with Lemma 2.2, we have $T \notin \overline{QNA(X, Y)}$ and so X fails property quasi A.

It would be interest to find other necessary conditions for properties quasi A and quasi B. For instance, there is a necessary condition for Lindenstrauss property B given in [43, Theorem 3] in terms of smooth points which we do not know whether it is still valid for quasi norm attaining operators.

Let us also mention that while we know that Lindenstrauss property B is not the same that property quasi B (for instance, $Y = \ell_2$ has property quasi B as it is reflexive, but it has not Lindenstrauss property B, see Example 3.7(a)), we do not know of any example of Banach space having property quasi A without having Lindenstrauss property A.

Problem 7.7 Does property quasi A imply Lindenstrauss property A?

7.3 Uniquely quasi norm attaining operators

We would like now to discuss the relation between uniquely quasi norm attaining operators and quasi norm attaining operators. It was already commented that both concepts are different: the identity in a Banach space of dimension greater than one is clearly quasi norm attaining but not uniquely. Aiming at the denseness, as a consequence of the results in Sect. 3, if *X* or *Y* has the RNP, then uniquely quasi norm attaining operators from *X* to *Y* are dense (see Corollary 3.10). So one may wonder whether the denseness of quasi norm attaining operators actually implies the stronger result of denseness of uniquely quasi norm attaining operators, but the following example shows that this is not the case, even if we have denseness of norm attaining operators.

Example 7.8 Let $Id \in \mathcal{L}(c_0, c_0)$ be the identity map. Then, $Id \in NA(c_0, c_0) \subset QNA(c_0, c_0)$, $NA(c_0, c_0)$ is dense in $\mathcal{L}(c_0, c_0)$, but Id does not belong to the closure of the set of uniquely quasi norm attaining operators.

Proof It is clear that Id \in NA (c_0, c_0) and the denseness of NA (c_0, c_0) follows from [43, Proposition 3]. So it suffices to prove that Id cannot be approximated by uniquely quasi norm attaining operators. Indeed, suppose that there exists $T \in \mathcal{L}(c_0, c_0)$ which uniquely quasi norm attains its norm such that $||T - \text{Id}|| < \frac{1}{4}$. Consider $y_0 \in ||T|| S_{c_0}$ such that T uniquely quasi attain its norm towards y_0 and take a sequence $(x_n) \subset S_{c_0}$ satisfying that

$$Tx_n \longrightarrow y_0 \text{ and } ||x_n - y_0|| < \frac{1}{2}.$$



133 Page 28 of 32 G. Choi et al.

Let $m_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ be such that $|y_0(m_0)| < \frac{1}{4}$, and consider the sequence $(x_n + \frac{1}{4}\lambda_n e_{m_0}) \subset S_{c_0}$, where $\lambda_n \in \{-1, +1\}$ is chosen so that

$$\left\| T\left(x_n + \frac{1}{4}\lambda_n e_{m_0}\right) \right\| \ge \|Tx_n\|$$

for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$. This is possible by an easy convexity argument: if

$$\left\| T\left(x_n + \frac{1}{4}e_{m_0}\right) \right\| < \|Tx_n\| \text{ and } \left\| T\left(x_n - \frac{1}{4}e_{m_0}\right) \right\| < \|Tx_n\|$$

for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$, then

$$2\|Tx_n\| \le \left\|T\left(x_n + \frac{1}{4}e_{m_0}\right)\right\| + \left\|T\left(x_n - \frac{1}{4}e_{m_0}\right)\right\| < \|Tx_n\| + \|Tx_n\|,$$

a contradiction. Now, we may assume, by taking a subsequence, that $\lambda_n = \lambda_0$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Since $||Tx_n|| \longrightarrow ||T||$, we have that

$$\left\| T\left(x_n + \frac{1}{4}\lambda_0 e_{m_0}\right) \right\| \longrightarrow \|T\|.$$

Thus, as T uniquely quasi attains its norm, there exist a subsequence $(x_{\sigma(n)})$ of (x_n) and a scalar $\theta_0 \in \mathbb{T}$ such that

$$T\left(x_{\sigma(n)} + \frac{1}{4}\lambda_0 e_{m_0}\right) \longrightarrow \theta_0 y_0,$$

or equivalently,

$$\frac{1}{4}\lambda_0 T e_{m_0} = (\theta_0 - 1)y_0.$$

It follows that $|\theta_0 - 1| \le \frac{1}{4}$ and hence that

$$\frac{1}{16} \ge \left| (\theta_0 - 1) y_0(m_0) \right| = \frac{1}{4} \left| [T e_{m_0}](m_0) \right|. \tag{7}$$

On the other hand, writing as usual e_{m_0} to denote the element of c_0 whose m_0^{th} coordinate is 1 and the others one are 0, we have that

$$||T - \operatorname{Id}|| \ge ||[T - \operatorname{Id}](e_{m_0})|| = ||T(e_{m_0}) - e_{m_0}|| \ge |[Te_{m_0}](m_0) - 1| \ge 1 - |[Te_{m_0}](m_0)|,$$
 so

$$\frac{1}{4} |[Te_{m_0}](m_0)| \ge \frac{1}{4} (1 - ||T - \operatorname{Id}||) > \frac{3}{16}.$$

This contradicts (7), finishing the proof.

The next result gives a positive condition to pass from the denseness of quasi norm attaining operators to uniquely quasi norm attaining operators: that the range space is locally uniformly rotund. Actually, in this case, we can get a result valid operator by operator: each quasi norm attaining operator can be approximated by uniquely quasi norm attaining operators.

Proposition 7.9 Let X and Y be Banach spaces such that Y is LUR. Then, every $T \in \text{QNA}(X,Y)$ can be approximated by uniquely quasi norm attaining operators.



133

Proof Let $T \in \text{QNA}(X, Y)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. We may assume that $0 < \varepsilon \le ||T||$. Let $(x_n) \subset S_X$ and $y_0 \in ||T||S_Y$ be satisfying that $Tx_n \longrightarrow y_0$. Choose $y_0^* \in S_{Y^*}$ so that $y_0^*(y_0) = ||T||$, and define an operator $S \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ by

$$S(x) := Tx + \varepsilon y_0^* (Tx) \frac{y_0}{\|T\|^2}.$$

It is easy to see that $S \in \text{QNA}(X, Y)$ with $Sx_n \longrightarrow y_0 \left(1 + \frac{\varepsilon}{\|T\|}\right)$ and $\|S\| = \|T\| + \varepsilon$. Suppose now that there is a sequence $(z_n) \subset B_X$ such that $||Sz_n|| \xrightarrow{n} ||S||$. That is,

$$\left\| T z_n + \varepsilon y_0^* (T z_n) \frac{y_0}{\|T\|^2} \right\| \longrightarrow \|T\| + \varepsilon \quad \text{as } n \to \infty.$$

We first note here that $||Tz_n|| \longrightarrow ||T||$ as n tends to ∞ , otherwise it implies that $||Sz_n||$ does not converge to ||S||, a contradiction. Take a subsequence $(z_{\sigma(n)})$ of (z_n) such that $y_0^*(Tz_{\sigma(n)})$ is convergent. The fact that $\|Sz_{\sigma(n)}\| \longrightarrow \|S\|$ gives us that $\lambda_0 := \lim_n \frac{y_0^*(Tz_{\sigma(n)})}{\|T\|} \in \mathbb{T}$. Hence we have that

$$\left\| T z_{\sigma(n)} + \varepsilon \lambda_0 \frac{y_0}{\|T\|} \right\| \longrightarrow \|T\| + \varepsilon \quad \text{as } n \to \infty.$$
 (8)

Now, we claim that $||Tz_{\sigma(n)} + \lambda_0 y_0|| \longrightarrow 2||T||$. If the claim holds, then by the local uniform rotundity of Y, we can conclude that $Tz_{\sigma(n)} \longrightarrow \lambda_0 y_0$ and thus that $Sz_{\sigma(n)} \longrightarrow$ $\lambda_0 y_0 \left(1 + \frac{\varepsilon}{\|T\|}\right)$, finishing the proof.

Since it is clear that $||Tz_{\sigma(n)} + \lambda_0 y_0|| \le 2||T||$, it suffices to show the opposite inequality. By the triangular inequality, we have that

$$\|Tz_{\sigma(n)} + \lambda_0 y_0\| \ge \left\|Tz_{\sigma(n)} \frac{\|T\|}{\varepsilon} + \lambda_0 y_0\right\| - \left(\frac{\|T\|}{\varepsilon} - 1\right) \|T\|.$$

Observe that (8) yields

$$\left\| T z_{\sigma(n)} \frac{\|T\|}{\varepsilon} + \lambda_0 y_0 \right\| \longrightarrow (\|T\| + \varepsilon) \frac{\|T\|}{\varepsilon} \quad \text{as } n \to \infty.$$

We then obtain that
$$\lim \|Tz_{\sigma(n)} + \lambda_0 y_0\| \ge (\|T\| + \varepsilon) \frac{\|T\|}{\varepsilon} - \left(\frac{\|T\|}{\varepsilon} - 1\right) \|T\| = 2\|T\|$$
. \square

It would be interesting to study more results analogous to the previous one.

Problem 7.10 Find other sufficient conditions allowing us to approximate quasi norm attaining operators by uniquely quasi norm attaining operators.

7.4 Quasi norm attaining endomorphisms

Ostrovskii asks in [50, p. 65] whether there exists an infinite dimensional Banach space such that $NA(X, X) = \mathcal{L}(X, X)$, gives some remarks on the possible example, and shows that the only possible candidates for X are separable reflexive spaces without 1-complemented infinite-dimensional subspaces with the approximation property. Therefore, the problem is related with the existence of reflexive spaces without complemented subspaces with the approximation property. There is some more information in the web page https:// mathoverflow.net/questions/232291/. This open problem also appears in [34, Problem 217] and [41, Problem 8].

The version of the problem for quasi norm attaining operators could also be of interest.



133 Page 30 of 32 G. Choi et al.

Problem 7.11 Is there any infinite dimensional Banach space X such that $QNA(X, X) = \mathcal{L}(X, X)$?

Some observations on the problem:

- If X is reflexive, then QNA(X, X) = NA(X, X) (by Proposition 4.1) and so in this case the new problem is the same as Ostrovskii's problem.
- As $\mathcal{K}(X,X) \subset \text{QNA}(X,X)$, one may think that the answer can be found among those Banach spaces with very few operators, that is, those X such that $\mathcal{L}(X,X) = \{\lambda \text{Id} + S \colon \lambda \in \mathbb{K}, S \in \mathcal{K}(X,X)\}$ see [11, 12] for a reference on this. But, again, in this case "most" quasi norm attaining operators are actually norm attaining, as the following easy result shows.

Remark 7.12 Let X be a Banach space, $\lambda \in \mathbb{K} \setminus \{0\}$, $S \in \mathcal{K}(X, X)$, and write $T := \lambda \mathrm{Id} + S$. If $T \in \mathrm{QNA}(X, X)$, then $T \in \mathrm{NA}(X, X)$.

Indeed, take (x_n) in B_X such that $Tx_n \longrightarrow u \in ||T||S_X$ and, by compactness, consider a subsequence $(x_{\sigma(n)})$ of (x_n) such that $Sx_{\sigma(n)} \longrightarrow z \in X$. Now,

$$x_{\sigma(n)} \longrightarrow \lambda^{-1}(u-z) =: x_0$$

and we have that $x_0 \in B_X$ and $Tx_0 = u$, so $||Tx_0|| = ||T||$ and $T \in NA(X, X)$.

Acknowledgements The authors thank Rafael Payá for many conversations on the topic of this manuscript and, in particular, for providing the idea of Lemma 2.1. They also thank G. Godefroy and D. Werner for useful remarks on the content of the manuscript. They also thanks the anonymous referee for the careful reading of the manuscript and the number of stylistic remarks which has improved the final form of the manuscript.

Funding The first author was supported by the National Research Foundation of Korea (NRF) grant funded by the Korea government (MSIT) (NRF-2020R1C1C1A01012267). The second author was supported by the Basic Science Research Program through the National Research Foundation of Korea (NRF) funded by the Ministry of Education (NRF-2019R1A2C1003857) and also by Basic Science Institute Fund, whose NRF grant is 2021R1A6A1A10042944. The third author was supported by the Basic Science Research Program through the National Research Foundation of Korea (NRF) funded by the Ministry of Education (NRF-2019R1A2C1003857). The fourth author has been partially supported by Project PGC2018-093794-B-I00 (MCIU/AEI/FEDER, UE, AEI/10.13039/501100011033), by Junta de Andalucía I+D+i grants P20_00255, A-FQM-484-UGR18, and FQM-185, and by "Maria de Maeztu" Excellence Unit IMAG, reference CEX2020-001105-M funded by MCIN/AEI/10.13039/501100011033. Funding for open access charge: Universidad de Granada (Spain)

Data availibility Not applicable.

Declarations

Conflict of interest There is no conflict of interest.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.



References

- Abramovich, Y.A., Aliprantis, C.D.: An invitation to operator theory, Graduate Studies in Mathematics, vol. 50. American Mathematical Society, Providence (2002)
- Acosta, M.D.: Denseness of norm attaining operators into strictly convex spaces. Proc. R. Soc. Edinb. 129A, 1107–1114 (1999)
- 3. Acosta, M.D.: Norm attaining operators into $L_1(\mu)$. Contemp. Math. 232, 1–11 (1999)
- Acosta, M.D.: Denseness of norm attaining mappings. RACSAM 100, 9–30 (2006)
- Acosta, M.D.: The Bishop-Phelps-Bollobás property for operators on C(K). Banach J. Math. Anal. 10, 307–319 (2016)
- 6. Acosta, M.D.: On the Bishop-Phelps-Bollobás property. Banach Center Publ. 119, 13-32 (2019)
- 7. Acosta, M.D., Aguirre, F.J., Payá, R.: A space by W. Gowers and new results on norm and numerical radius attaining operators. Acta Univ. Carolin. Math. Phys. 33, 5–14 (1992)
- Acosta, M.D., Aguirre, F.J., Payá, R.: A new sufficient condition for the denseness of norm attaining operators. Rocky Mt. J. Math. 26, 407–418 (1996)
- 9. Acosta, M.D., Aron, R.M., García, D., Maestre, M.: The Bishop–Phelps–Bollobás theorem for operators. J. Funct. Anal. 254, 2780–2799 (2008)
- Albiac, F., Kalton, N.: Topics in Banach Space Theory, 2nd edn, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 233. Springer, New York (2016)
- 11. Argyros, S., Haydon, R.G.: A hereditarily indecomposable L_{∞} -space that solves the scalar-plus-compact problem. Acta Math. **206**, 1–54 (2011)
- Argyros, S., Motakis, P.: The scalar-plus-compact property in spaces without reflexive subspaces. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 371, 1887–1924 (2019)
- Aron, R.M., Choi, Y.S., Kim, S.K., Lee, H.J., Martín, M.: The Bishop-Phelps-Bollobás version of Lindenstrauss properties A and B. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 367, 6085-6101 (2015)
- Ausekle, J.: Compactness of operators acting from an Orlicz sequence space to a Lorentz sequence space. Proc. Estonian Acad. Sci. Phys. Math. 48, 12–21 (1999)
- Ausekle, J.A., Oja, E.F.: Pitt's theorem for the Lorentz and Orlicz sequence spaces. Mat. Zametki. 61, 18–25 (1997) (Russian) [English transl.: Math. Notes 61, 16–21 (1997)]
- Ausekle, J., Oja, E.F.: Compactness of operators acting from a Lorentz sequence space to an Orlicz sequence space. Ark. Mat. 36, 233–239 (1998)
- 17. Baronti, M., Papini, P.L.: Remotal sets revisited. Taiwan. J. Math. 5, 367–373 (2001)
- 18. Bourgain, J.: On dentability and the Bishop-Phelps property. Isr. J. Math. 28, 265–271 (1977)
- Bourgin, R.R.: Geometric Aspects of Convex Sets with the Radon–Nikodým Property. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 993. Springer, Berlin (1983)
- Cascales, B., Guirao, A.J., Kadets, V.: A Bishop–Phelps–Bollobás type theorem for uniform algebras. Adv. Math. 240, 370–382 (2013)
- Choi, G., Choi, Y.S., Martín, M.: Emerging notions of norm attainment for Lipschitz maps between Banach spaces. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 483, 123600 (2020)
- Choi, C., Kaminska, A., Lee, H.J.: Complex convexity of Orlicz–Lorentz spaces and its applications. Bull. Polish Acad. Sci. Math. 52, 19–38 (2004)
- Choi, Y.S., Dantas, S., Jung, M., Martín, M.: The Bishop–Phelps–Bollobás property and absolute sums. Mediterr. J. Math. 16, 73 (2019)
- Dantas, S., García, D., Maestre, M., Roldán, O.: The Bishop–Phelps–Bollobás theorem: an overview. In: Operator and Norm Inequalities and Related Topics, Trends in Mathematics. Birkhäuser Cham (2022). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-02104-6_16
- Defant, A., García, D., Maestre, M., Sevilla-Peris, P.: Dirichlet Series and Holomorphic Functions in High Dimensions, New Mathematical Monographs. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2019). ISBN: 9781108476713
- Deville, R., Godefroy, G., Zizler, V.: Smoothness and renormings in Banach spaces, Pitman Monographs, vol. 64. Logman, London (1993)
- Diestel, J.: Geometry of Banach Spaces: Selected Topics. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 485.
 Springer, New York (1975)
- Diestel, J.: Sequences and Series in Banach Spaces, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 92. Springer, New York (1984) 92. Springer, New York (1984)
- Fabian, M., Habala, P., Hájek, P., Montesinos, V., Zizler, V.: Banach Space Theory. CMS Books in Mathematics. Springer, New York (2011)
- 30. Godefroy, G.: A survey on Lipschitz-free Banach spaces. Comment. Math. 55, 89–118 (2015)
- Godefroy, G.: On norm attaining Lipschitz maps between Banach spaces. Pure Appl. Funct. Anal. 1, 39–46 (2016)



133 Page 32 of 32 G. Choi et al.

Godun, B.V., Troyanski, S.L.: Renorming Banach spaces with fundamental biorthogonal system. Contemp. Math. 144, 119–126 (1993)

- Gowers, W.: Symmetric block bases of sequences with large average growth. Isr. J. Math. 69, 129–149 (1990)
- Guirao, A.J., Montesinos, V., Zizler, V.: Open Problems in the Geometry and Analysis of Banach Spaces. Springer, New York (2016)
- Huff, R.: On non-density of norm-attaining operators. Rev. Roum. Math. Pures et Appl. 25, 239–241 (1980)
- 36. Jarchow, H.: Locally Convex Spaces. Teubner, Stuttgart (1981)
- 37. Johnson, J., Wolfe, J.: Norm attaining operators. Studia Math. 65, 7–19 (1979)
- 38. Johnson, J., Wolfe, J.: Norm attaining operators and simultaneously continuous retractions. Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 32, 609–612 (1982)
- 39. Kadets, V.: A Course in Functional Analysis and Measure Theory. Universitext. Springer, Cham (2018)
- Kadets, V., Lopez, G., Martín, M., Werner, D.: Norm attaining operators of finite rank. In: The mathematical legacy of Victor Lomonosov, Advances in Analysis and Geometry, vol. 2. De Gruyter, pp. 157–188 (2020). ISBN 978-3-11-065339-7
- Khatskevich, V.A., Ostrovskii, M.I., Shulman, V.S.: Extremal problems for operators in Banach spaces arising in the study of linear operator pencils. Integr. Equ. Oper. Theory 51, 109–119 (2005)
- 42. Kraus, M.: Two remarks on remotality. J. Approx. Theory 163, 307–310 (2011)
- 43. Lindenstrauss, J.: On operators which attain their norm. Isr. J. Math. 1, 139–148 (1963)
- 44. Lindenstrauss, J., Tzafriri, L.: Classical Banach Spaces I: Sequence Spaces. Springer, Berlin (1977)
- 45. Lindenstrauss, J., Tzafriri, L.: Classical Banach Spaces II. Springer, Berlin (1979)
- 46. Martín, M.: Norm-attaining compact operators. J. Funct. Anal. 267, 1585–1592 (2014)
- Martín, M.: The version for compact operators of Lindenstrauss properties A and B. RACSAM 110, 269–284 (2016)
- Martín, M., Merí, J., Payá, R.: On the intrinsic and the spatial numerical range. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 318, 175–189 (2006)
- Martín, M., Rao, T.S.S.R.K.: On remotality for convex sets in Banach spaces. J. Approx. Theory 162, 392–396 (2010)
- Maslyuchenko, V.K., Plichko, A.M.: Some open problems on functional analysis and function theory. Extracta Math. 20, 51–70 (2005)
- Oja, E.: On M-ideals of compact operators and Lorentz sequence spaces. Proc. Estonian Acad. Sci. Phys. Math. 40, 31–36 (1991)
- 52. Partington, J.R.: Norm attaining operators. Isr. J. Math. 43, 273–276 (1982)
- 53. Payá, R., Saleh, Y.: Norm attaining operators from $L_1(\mu)$ into $L_{\infty}(\nu)$. Arch. Math. 75, 380–388 (2000)
- 54. Rosenthal, H.P.: On quasi-complemented subspaces of Banach spaces, with an appendix on compactness of operators from $L_p(\mu)$ to $L_r(\nu)$. J. Funct. Anal. **4**,176–214 (1969)
- Schachermayer, W.: Norm attaining operators on some classical Banach spaces. Pac. J. Math. 105, 427– 438 (1983)
- Singer, I.: The Theory of Best Approximation and Functional Analysis. Conference Board of the Mathematical Sciences Regional Conference Series in Applied Mathematics, vol. 13. Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics, Philadelphia (1974)
- 57. Stegall, C.: Optimization and differentiation in Banach spaces. Linear Algebra Appl. 84, 191-211 (1986)
- Uhl, J.: Norm attaining operators on L₁[0, 1] and the Radon–Nikodým property. Pac. J. Math. 63, 293–300 (1976)
- 59. Veselý, L.: Convex sets without diametral pairs. Extracta Math. 24, 271-280 (2009)
- 60. Weaver, N.: Lipschitz Algebras, 2nd edn. World Scientific Publishing Co., Inc, River Edge (2018)
- 61. Zizler, V.: On some extremal problems in Banach spaces. Math. Scand. 32, 214–224 (1973)

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

